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SUSTAINABLE RAPID EVOLUTION

Cheetahs are fascinating creatures that 
constantly develop their hunting strategies ever 
since they are young in order to manoeuver 
in stealth and speed when hunting for preys. 
In today’s rapidly changing business world, 
Aemulus has the same power in modifying its 
performance to suit varied requirements. Our 
company established since 2004 has embodied 
a strong foundation surpassing challenges with 
great novelty. We envisioned being the cream of 
the crop across the globalised market, providing 
our customers the best of test solutions. Aligned 
with our objectives, we are adaptable to constant 
change in generating continuous market growth 
and ultimately, position Aemulus as the renowned 
brand name in the semiconductor test market.

5 Corporate Information

6 Corporate Structure

7 Financial Highlights

8 Management Discussion & Analysis

11 Board of Directors

12 Profile of Directors

20 Profile of Key Senior Management

23 Aemulus’ Chronological Summary 
of the 2017 Events

24 Corporate Social Responsibility 
Statement

26 Corporate Governance Statement

35 Additional Compliance Information

38 Audit Committee Report

41 Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control

43
Statement of Directors’ Responsibility 
in Relation to the Audited Financial 
Statements

44 Financial Statements

105 List of Property

106 Analysis of Shareholdings

109 Notice of Annual General Meeting

112 Statement Accompanying Notice of 
Annual General Meeting

Enclosed Proxy Form

CONTENTS



A muluse TM

Immune to 
external change
The perpetuity of test programmes throughout 
turbulence of semiconductor trends

RealSmart™ Hardware Abstraction Technology

The common feature found in current Radio Frequency (“RF”) test platform in the industry is that it is locked to a 
single vendor for Vector Signal Analyser (“VSA”) and Vector Signal Generator (“VSG”). Just like time, technology 
does not wait - it advances and demands better performance RF capabilities with new modulation schemes to be 
supported in the VSA or VSG. The real problem kicks in when vendors obsolete the technology and current users are 
forced to move on to a new platform. 

With the RealSmart™ Hardware Abstraction Technology (“HAT”), we solve the common pain by designing a platform 
which takes into considerations of future technology. The software and hardware architecture that are embedded 
within this RF platform allows us to be open to any off-the-shelf VSA or VSG in the industry. With that, customers will 
be able to maintain the same test programme across different VSA or VSG or even to configure this RF tester to their 
own preference from any of the off-the-shelf VSA or VSG.



RealSmart™ Industry 4.0 Platform 

Industry 4.0 is defined as the current trend 
of automation and data exchange 
in the manufacturing technology. It 
includes cyber-physical systems, the 
Internet of Things, cloud computing 
and cognitive computing. Industry 
4.0 creates a “smart factory,” which is 
connected 24/7 and generates massive 
data collection.

This tester is embedded with a Smart 
Manufacturing software framework 
whereby it allows the end user to gather 
tester analytics from anywhere around 
the world via the Internet of Things. The 
backbone architecture may embed 
future Artificial Intelligence algorithm, 
which can open up capabilities such 
as fault monitoring, prediction and 
analysis by leveraging on the Big Data 
technology.

A muluse TM

Be a captain at 
what you do
Better decision-making at 
your fingertips



The key is leverage
Leveraging on idling test resources for 
optimum asset management

RealSmart™ Virtualised Tester

A way to manage demands with little resources, virtualisation in server platforms allow creating multiple instances 
of Operating System (“OS”) or user environments within a server where they are abstracted away from the actual 
underlying hardware or software. 

Aemulus RealSmart™ Virtualised Tester embeds a virtualisation layer between the tester resources and test executive 
software that eventually allows users to create multiple “logical” testers within one physical hardware. In layman’s 
terms, a single tester can virtually work as two or more separate testers having independent resources and processing 
capabilities connecting to multiple types of automated handlers. Eventually, this will reduce capital expenditure 
with lesser test platform and also floor space savings.

A muluse TM
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

HISTORY, PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GROUP STRUCTURE

Aemulus Holdings Berhad (“Aemulus”) was incorporated in Malaysia on 17 October 2014 under the Companies Act, 
1965 as a public limited company under its present name. Aemulus is principally an investment holding company 
with one (1) wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Aemulus Corporation Sdn Bhd (“ACSB”). ACSB’s principal activity is 
designing and assembling of automated test equipment and test and measurement instruments and the provision 
of their related services and design consultancy services.

The current group structure is detailed as follows:-

AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD
(1114009-H)

100%

AEMULUS CORPORATION
SDN BHD
(798015-M)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2013
RM’000

2014
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2017
RM’000

Total assets 29,761 40,624 76,017 68,731 82,964

Equity 24,347 32,381 68,210 65,466 73,090

Revenue 10,004 23,307 32,591 21,984 40,068

Net profit/(loss) 1,001 8,034 9,067 (2,735) 7,552

The Financial Highlights for financial years 2013 to 2014 reflect only that of Aemulus Corporation Sdn Bhd as Aemulus 
Holdings Berhad was only incorporated on 17 October 2014. The Financial Highlights should be read in conjunction 
with the Proforma Consolidated Financial Information and Accountants’ Report for the financial period ended 30 
April 2015 as disclosed in the Prospectus of the Company dated 26 August 2015 and the interim notes attached to 
these interim financial statements.

Total Assets
(RM’000)

Revenue
(RM’000)

Equity
(RM’000)

Net Profit/(Loss)
(RM’000)

2013

2013

2013

2013

2014

2014

2014

2014

2015

2015

2015

2015

2016

2016

2016

2016

2017

2017

2017

2017

29,761

10,004 1,001

24,347

40,624

23,307 8,034

32,381

76,017

32,591 9,067

68,210

68,731

82,964 73,090

7,55240,068

21,984 (2,735)

65,466
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & 
ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Change 
RM’000 %

Revenue 40,068 21,984 18,084 82%

Cost of Sales 14,945 10,149 4,796 47%

Gross Profit 25,123 11,835 13,288 112%

Research and Development Expenses 5,119 3,571 1,548 43%

Administrative Expenses 13,456 11,671 1,785 15%

Aemulus chalked remarkable revenue growth in two primary market segments, namely smartphone/tablet and 
enterprise storage. Revenue for the financial year ended (“FYE”) 2017 soared by 82% from RM21.984 million last year 
to RM40.068 million this year. 

Smartphone/Tablet market segment saw 26% increase from FYE2016 with approximately RM20 million revenue this 
year. The key factors that contributed to the growth of this segment were the increasing customers’ acceptance of 
our test solutions, design win into tier one smartphone companies, as well as higher revenue contribution from Far 
East Region. In addition, our enterprise storage segment has achieved a tremendous growth this year largely due to 
higher demand for Amoeba ™ AMB4600 in FYE2017. 

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS 

Aemulus is a design house – architects and markets semiconductor testers or automated test equipment (“ATE”). 
We focus primarily on RF and mixed-signal semiconductor test markets followed by automotive and lighting markets. 
Our objective is to constantly enhance and provide test solutions that propel our customers towards optimum 
productivity and operational efficiency. 

The strategies to achieve this objective encompass investing in research of new test methodologies, algorithms, test 
instrumentation design and test software; as well as research of how data science can help testers in predictive 
analysis and maintenance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & 
ANALYSIS (Cont’d)

As at FYE2017, the Group’s non-current assets have grown 5% or RM1.039 million as compared to FYE2016. The 
increase was mainly attributed to the purchase of property, plant and equipment, which was funded through 
internally generated funds. 

Current assets have increased approximately RM13.194 million or 27% as compared to FYE2016. The increase was 
mainly attributed to the increase in inventories and other receivables, deposits and prepayments. Inventories have 
increased from RM10.958 million in FYE2016 to RM17.597 million in FYE2017 due to the stock up of long lead-time 
and critical materials, as well as higher work in progress inventories to ensure prompt delivery to customers. Other 
receivables, deposits and prepayments have increased from RM0.656 million in FYE2016 to RM6.013 million in FYE2017, 
mainly due to RM4.965 million paid for the acquisition of a piece of land located at Mukim 12, Plot 2, Bayan Lepas 
Industrial Park, Penang.

As mentioned, the increase of non-current liabilities was mainly attributed to the acquisition of a piece of land 
located at Mukim 12, Plot 2, Bayan Lepas Industrial Park, Penang. 20% of the land acquisition cost was financed with 
internally generated funds, while the remaining 80% was funded with bank borrowings. As at FYE2017, the Group has 
drawn down term loan amounted to RM2.979 million to finance the land acquisition and repaid RM0.088 million. Out 
of the net outstanding RM2.891 million term loan, RM2.248 million was classified as non-current liabilities and RM0.643 
million as current liabilities.

Apart from the term loan, the increase in current liabilities was also attributed to the increase of RM2.506 million in the 
trade payables from RM1.630 million in FYE2016 to RM4.136 million in FYE2017, in tandem with the purchases incurred 
to support growth in sales. 

DIVIDEND POLICY

Aemulus does not have an explicit dividend policy.

FINANCIAL POSITION REVIEW

2017
RM’000

2016
RM’000

Change
RM’000 %

Non-Current Assets 20,468 19,429 1,039 5%

Current Assets 62,496 49,302 13,194 27%

Non-Current Liabilities 2,248 - 2,248 100%

Current Liabilities 7,627 3,265 4,362 133%

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW (CONT’D)

In tandem with the increase in revenue, cost of sales has increased from RM10.149 million in FYE2016 to RM14.945 
million in FYE2017. Driven by the significant revenue growth, the Group has achieved a gross profit of RM25.123 
million, a notable 112% increase from the last financial year. 

On the other hand, research and development (“R&D”) expenses grew in FYE2017. As an ATE design house, we 
have invested heavily in R&D activities to enhance our test platforms and to create innovative test solutions; to 
fulfil customers’ requirements, and to stay competitive in this ever-changing industry. With this enhancement and 
innovation, our products are well positioned to compete with other players in the industry. Other key areas of our 
investment include: talent-building, new product prototypes, and purchase of instruments. The recent launch of 
AMB7600-S marked yet another significant milestone achieved by our R&D effort.

With our business expansion, some expenses grew in tandem as well. To be specific, administrative expenses have 
increased; at the same time sales and marketing costs incurred to support our revenue growth have increased 
as well. Last but not the least, there was an increase in the cost of staff as our human resource team ran a few 
programmes in talent-retention initiatives and recruitment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & 
ANALYSIS (Cont’d)

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, TRENDS AND 
OUTLOOKS

Rising from a plateau, Aemulus has set a new record in 
revenue for FYE2017 with double-digit revenue growth 
in Far East Region and three-digit revenue growth in 
enterprise storage market respectively. With that, we 
have turned from a loss-making position of RM2.735 
million in FYE2016 to a commendable profitability of 
RM7.551 million In FYE2017.

Smartphone/Tablet market being one of the primary 
revenue sources for Aemulus is expected to continue 
to grow in 2018. According to International Data 
Corporation (“IDC”), the worldwide smartphone 
market shall reach a total of 1.5 billion units shipped 
in 2017, up 1.7% as compared to 2016. The uptrend 
shall continue through 2021, with a compound annual 
growth rate (“CAGR”) forecast of 3.3%. Then, by 2018, 
it is estimated that China shall top the smartphone user 
list with 1.3 billion users, followed by India, 530 million 
users and the US, 229 million users. 

With the recent launch of Amoeba 7600-S in SEMICON 
Taiwan Exhibition 2017 in Taipei, we exhibited a 
virtualised tester feature whereby a single tester 
unit is able to be logically split and independently 
handles multiple test sites simultaneously. This feature 
smartly utilises and juggles between dedicated and 
multiplexed resources to achieve the most optimum 
cost-of-test (“CoT”) results. The drive behind designing 
this feature is to address cost-sensitive market like 
China’s through technology innovation instead of the 
norm - getting into a price war. 

We believe that continuous investment in Far East 
Region is necessary, especially in applications 
engineering. In the first quarter of FYE2017, we have 
officially set foot in Taiwan with the opening of our 
Hsinchu office. Just a stone’s throw away from Hsinchu 
Science and Industrial Park, this office aims to serve as 
a satellite laboratory for our Far East customers and 
post-sales and support centre with spares in store. At 
the same time, sales and marketing activities in the US 
Region shall complement the effort and investment 
made in Far East Region. 

On top of that, FYE2017 has been a spectacular 
year when it comes to enterprise storage market. 
Revenue from this market has increased astoundingly 
up to 600%, as compared to FYE2016. No doubt, the 
engineering effort throughout 2016 and 2017 has 
yielded significant results in revenue. It contributed 37% 
of FYE2017 overall revenues. Applications engineering 
effort is still on-going, and we think that the chances 
to convert the effort into revenues are high and shall 
continue to happen in FYE2018. 

We look forward to replicating the success of Amoeba 
4600 by proliferating this product to other vertical 
segments beyond enterprise storage market. The 
scalable and flexible architecture allows us to add in 
additional functional instrumentation to enhance its 
test capabilities. Amoeba 4600 is our first direct-docking 
solution, as opposed to our soft-docking solution in 
our other product line. We are looking at aggressive 
business development activities for Amoeba 4600 in 
Far East Region in FYE2018. 

Industry 4.0 has been the talk of the town; many 
manufacturing and semiconductor companies have 
been eyeing and exploring solutions in this area.  
Likewise, Aemulus has started to research in this area 
throughout FYE2017 - we believe that informatics and 
data science integration in test solutions shall be in 
high demand in the near future. On the other hand, 
operation efficiency is an area that can significantly 
reduce operation cost and subsequently CoT. We are 
careful in determining which angle to penetrate and 
we are looking at a different solution and product 
offering comparing to what is available in the existing 
market. 

Stepping into FYE2018, we do foresee forex risk and 
competition risk in our business at our doorstep. In 
fact, 77% of our revenues in FYE2017 was exposed to 
USD currency fluctuation, and this risk shall persist in 
FYE2018. Currently, we manage this risk through forex 
forward contracts. Besides that, the risk is also mitigated 
through natural hedge between sales and purchases 
in USD. When it comes to competition risk, we do 
recognise that competition makes us stronger and 
drives us to deliver better solutions. With an objective 
in mind to increase productivity without getting into 
a price war, we address this risk by coming up with 
innovative features, which has been encouraging 
on many occasions. Therefore, we shall continue to 
introduce features that lower CoT but not the cost of 
testers. 

Moving on, FYE2017 also witnessed Aemulus 
participating in grooming the young and inculcating 
the spirit of entrepreneurship. We have sponsored 
and contributed to Young Outliers’ Game Changers 
Camp 2017. It was the first international camp held 
in Malaysia, we helped to coach teens in a two-
week programme and advised pitches made by the 
participants towards the end of the programme at the 
Dolphin Tank. 

Here, the Board would like to take the opportunity to 
thank our customers for their patience and continued 
support. To our staff, we would like to express our 
gratitude towards your belief, dedication and hard 
work. And lastly, to our shareholders, we appreciate 
your trust, patience, and support.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Kan Ky-Vern

Chok Kwee Bee

Ng Sang Beng
Ng Chin Wah

Wong Shee Kian

Ong Chong Chee

Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu

Yeoh Chee Keong

Standing from left to right 

Sitting from left to right 
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Chok Kwee Bee, a Malaysian, female, aged 65, 
is our Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 
/ Chairman. She was appointed to the Board on 
8 December 2014 as Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman. She was designated as 
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director on 
13 November 2015. She holds a Bachelor of Arts 
(Honours) degree in Business Studies from Kingston 
University, United Kingdom and she is also an 
Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, 
United Kingdom. 

Ms. Chok is presently the Managing Director of Teak 
Capital Sdn Bhd, a venture capital management 
company and a Principal of Intres Capital Partners 
Sdn Bhd. Prior to that, she was with Walden 
International, a Silicon Valley based venture capital 
firm, overseeing the operations and investments of 
Walden International and BI Walden in Malaysia. Ms. 
Chok was also previously Head of Corporate Finance 
at AmInvestment Bank Berhad. She previously held 
posts as a member of the Securities Commission 
Capital Market Advisory Council, Chairman of 
the Malaysian Venture Capital and Private Equity 
Association, Non-Executive Board member of the 
Audit Oversight Board and also a member of the 
Malaysian Venture Capital Development Council.

Ms. Chok is currently a non-executive Board member 
of Hong Leong Bank Berhad, a non-executive 
Board member of MIMOS Technology Solutions Sdn 
Bhd (formerly known as Frontier Novatur Sdn Bhd, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of MIMOS Berhad) and a 
Management Committee Member of the Malaysia 
Venture Capital Management Berhad and Private 
Equity Association. She also sits on the board of 
several private limited companies.

Ms. Chok was appointed as Director of Aemulus 
Corporation Sdn Bhd on 26 May 2010, a position she 
holds until now. 

Ms. Chok Kwee Bee is the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. 
She has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

CHOK KWEE BEE
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director / 
Chairman
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Ng Sang Beng, a Malaysian, male, aged 41, is our 
Executive Director / Chief Executive Officer. He was 
appointed to the Board on 8 December 2014. He 
is responsible for the strategic operations, business 
development activities and R&D roadmap of the 
Group.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Electrical 
Engineering from University of Technology 
Malaysia in 1999. He began his career with Altera 
Corporation (M) Sdn Bhd (“Altera”) in 2001 as the 
Test Development Engineer and Component 
Applications Engineer. He was then promoted 
to Component Applications Supervisor in 2002. 
He left Altera in 2004 to co-found Aemulus Sdn 
Bhd with Yeoh Chee Keong in the same year.

He has been involved in the semiconductor industry 
for more than 15 years and has vast knowledge in the 
area of design and development of semiconductor 
tester which focuses on radio frequency, analogue 
/ digital  / mixed-signals, Input  /  Output Buffer 
Information Specification (“IBIS”), Boundary Scan 
Description Language, signal integrity and custom 
field-programmable-gate-array designs.

He was recognised as one of the Endeavour 
Entrepreneurs by Endeavour Global at its 55th 
international selection panel 2014.

He currently sits on the board of several private 
limited companies.

Mr. Ng Sang Beng is a member of the Remuneration 
Committee. He has no family relationship with any 
Directors or major shareholders of the Company.

NG SANG BENG
Executive Director / Chief Executive Officer
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Yeoh Chee Keong, a Malaysian, male, aged 50 is 
our Executive Director / Chief Operating Officer. He 
was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2014. 
He is responsible for the operations of the Group. 

He graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from 
University of Lincolnshire and Humberside in 2001 and 
a Diploma in Engineering in 1989 from Damansara 
Utama College. He started his career in 1993 at 
Unico Electronics (Penang) Sdn Bhd as the Design 
Engineer for semiconductor burn-in boards. In 1998, 
he joined MCMS Sdn Bhd with responsibility for 
electronics product design and manufacturing. In 
2001, he joined Altera as the Senior Engineer where 
he was involved in load board and characterisation 
board designs for field-programmable gate array 
tester systems. 

He has more than 20 years of design and 
management experience in the electronics test 
industry with an extensive experience in PCB design 
and high speed signal integrity simulations and 
analysis. He is also well versed with PCB design tools 
and simulation tools. In 2004, he left Altera to co-
found Aemulus Sdn Bhd with Ng Sang Beng. 

He currently sits on the board of several private 
limited companies.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

YEOH CHEE KEONG
Executive Director / Chief Operating Officer
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Wong Shee Kian, a Malaysian, male, aged 39, is 
our Executive Director / Chief Technology Officer. 
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 
2014. He is responsible for overseeing the overall R&D 
roadmap and R&D activities of the Group. He is the 
head of all divisions categorised under the Group’s 
R&D activities (i.e. R&D, new product introduction, 
software and product application divisions). He 
plays a significant role in the product application 
division of the Group whereby he provides technical 
support to the Group’s marketing team such as 
competitive analysis, product configurations, test 
time analysis and product demonstration as well as 
pre-sales and after-sales technical support and new 
product planning.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Electrical 
Engineering degree from University of Malaya in 
2002. In 2009, he obtained a Master Degree in 
Engineering (Microelectronics) from the Multimedia 
University. He started his career in 2002 at Altera 
as a Component Applications Engineer and was 
responsible in characterising Input / Output buffers 
and developing specific simulation models, e.g. IBIS. 
He has extensive experience in system-level signal 
integrity simulation and analysis. He has provided 
signal integrity and behavioural modelling trainings 
to engineers including Altera’s regional support 
centres and worldwide Field Applications Engineers. 
He was also actively involved in various roll-out 
activities of new products by Altera. In 2005, he left 
Altera to join our Group as our R&D Manager and 
was promoted to Chief Technology Officer in 2006. 

He currently sits on the board of several private 
limited companies.

He is a member of the Remuneration Committee. 
He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company. 

WONG SHEE KIAN
Executive Director / Chief Technology Officer
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

NG CHIN WAH
Executive Director / Chief Financial Officer

Ng Chin Wah, a Malaysian, male, age 38, is our 
Executive Director / Chief Financial Officer. He was 
appointed as Executive Director on 13 January 2017 
and subsequently appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer on 1 March 2017. He graduated from 
University of Malaya with a Bachelor Degree in 
Accountancy (Honours) in 2003. He is a Chartered 
Accountant and a member of Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants.

He started his career in 2003 as an Audit Assistant 
with Ernst & Young, Penang and was promoted to 
Audit Senior in 2005. In 2007, he joined Ernst & Young, 
Singapore as an Audit Senior. During his tenure with 
Ernst & Young, he was involved in audit and advisory 
services covering a wide range of sectors and 
industries including semiconductor, manufacturing, 
property development, construction, and trading. 
He has extensive exposures in Financial Reporting 
Standard (“FRS”) of Malaysia and Singapore, 
US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(“GAAP”) reporting, initial public offerings and 
compliance requirement pursuant to the Sarbanes 
Oxley Act, 2002 of the USA.

He joined our Group in 2009 as the Finance 
Manager. In April 2015, he was promoted to 
Financial Controller and subsequently appointed 
as Chief Financial Officer on 1 March 2017. He is 
responsible for the overall finance and accounts 
functions of our Group.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.
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Ong Chong Chee, a Malaysian, male, aged 41, 
is our Independent Non-Executive Director. He was 
appointed to our Board on 20 July 2015.

He started his career as a Tax Consultant in Deloitte in 
1998 and was promoted to Senior Manager in 2004. 
He left Deloitte in 2005 and subsequently, he set up 
Advent MS Tax Consultants Sdn Bhd (“Advent”) in 
2005. He is one of the founders and an Executive 
Director of Advent. Advent is currently the tax 
division of Moore Stephens Malaysia. He has more 
than 15 years of experience in audit and taxation. 
His areas of expertise include advisory on tax audit 
and investigation, business restructuring, mergers 
and acquisitions, and advisory on real estate and 
goods and services taxes.

He is a member of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants, United Kingdom (“ACCA”) 
since 2002 and a fellow member of ACCA since 
2007. He is a fellow member and a chartered 
tax practitioner of the Chartered Tax Institute of 
Malaysia, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants, an associate member 
of The Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia, an 
income tax agent and goods and services tax 
agent licensed by the Ministry of Finance.

He also sits on the board of several private limited 
companies.

Mr. Ong Chong Chee is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He 
has no family relationship with any Directors or major 
shareholders of the Company.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

ONG CHONG CHEE
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu, a Malaysian, male, aged 46, 
is our Independent Non-Executive Director. He was 
appointed to our Board on 20 July 2015. 

He graduated with a Master of Business 
Administration from the University of Bath, United 
Kingdom in 2002. In 1995, he obtained a Bachelor of 
Science in Electrical Engineering from Washington 
University, The United States of America in May 
1995 and a Bachelor of Arts in Physics from Ohio 
Wesleyan University, The United States of America in 
September 1995. 

He started his career as an Integrated Circuit 
Designer at Intel Technology Sdn Bhd in 1995. In 
1998, he joined Altera as the Section Manager 
and set-up a R&D engineering department. He left 
Altera in 2005 and joined Jaalaa Malaysia Sdn Bhd 
(a radio frequency Integrated circuit (“IC”) start-up 
company based in San Diego, The United States of 
America) as the Director of Engineering where he 
assisted to set up a R&D and operations engineering 
center. In 2006 he left to join an advanced 
miniature camera module developer, Vista Point 
Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd, before re-joining Altera 
in 2008 as the Director of Engineering for Software 
and Intellectual Property Engineering. He left Altera 
in 2012 and joined Motorola Solutions Malaysia Sdn 
Bhd (“Motorola”) as the Director of Engineering 
for 2-way radio products at Motorola, a position 
he still holds until today. He has approximately 20 
years of experience in broad, high technology 
industries ranging from IC design, test development 
and software engineering to network/radio 
communications intellectual property, imaging 
and radio frequency products development, in 
addition to the management of supply chain 
partners, extensive involvement in operations and 
engagements with customers.

Mr. Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu is a member of the 
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
and Nomination Committee. He has no family 
relationship with any Directors or major shareholders 
of the Company.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

FRIISCOR HO CHII SSU
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Notes 

1. All the above Directors do not have any conflict of interest with the Company.
2. Other than traffic offences, none of the Directors of the Company have any convictions for offences within the past 5 years or any public sanction 

or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.
3. The Directors’ shareholdings are as disclosed in this Annual Report.
4. None of the Directors of the Company hold or have held any Directorships in other public companies and listed issuers, save for Ms. Chok Kwee 

Bee, details of which are as disclosed in her profile at page 12 of this Annual Report.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Kan Ky-Vern, Malaysian, male, aged 36, is our 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. He was 
appointed to the Board on 8 December 2014 as 
Executive Director / Chief Financial Officer. He was 
re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 1 March 2017. Before he resigned from 
the position of Chief Financial Officer on 1 March 
2017, he was responsible for the overall finance and 
accounts as well as investors relation functions of 
the Group.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce, 
majoring in Accounts & Finance from the University 
of Melbourne in 2002. He started his career in the 
auditing profession with Ernst & Young, Kuala Lumpur 
in 2003 covering sectors of consumer services 
and telecommunications. He subsequently joined 
the Corporate Finance department of Alliance 
Investment Bank Berhad in 2004. He was primarily 
involved in initial public listing initiatives, financial 
modelling, business analytics and valuation in 
various technology and manufacturing companies. 
In 2005, he joined Accenture Malaysia where he was 
involved in project management and performance 
management in the financial services industry. He 
left Accenture Malaysia in 2006 and during the 
same year he joined GA Blue International Bhd 
(now known as G3 Global Berhad) as the financial 
controller and left in May 2009. 

He was appointed as Director of Aemulus 
Corporation Sdn Bhd (“ACSB”), the wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company on 14 March 2008 
and subsequently assumed the position of Chief 
Financial Officer in June 2009, a position he held 
until 1 March 2017. He resigned as Director of ACSB 
on 30 November 2017. He currently sits on the board 
of several private limited companies.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

KAN KY-VERN
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
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PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ONG CHUIN TEIN
Senior R&D Director

Ong Chuin Tein, a Malaysian, male, age 39, was 
appointed as Senior R&D Director on 1 April 2013. He 
graduated from University of Malaya with a Bachelor 
in Electrical Engineering degree in 2002.

He started his career in 2002 as a Component 
Applications Engineer at Altera. During his career 
with Altera, he was responsible in solving Field 
Programmable Gate Array (“FPGA”) configuration 
issues, which was escalated to Altera’s factory by the 
Field Application Engineers. He was also responsible 
in providing embedded solutions and reference 
designs for some of the Altera’s FPGA and Complex 
Programmable Logic Device (“CPLD”) users’ reference 
while actively involved in various new products roll-
out activities which include new device check-out, 
evaluation and characterisation, as well as generation 
of technical collaterals such as datasheet, application 
notes and white papers.

In 2005, he joined our Group as a Project Manager 
and was subsequently promoted to Senior R&D 
Director. His journey with the Group was described as 
profoundly challenging and best suited his areas of 
interest. Overseeing the digital discipline of the Group 
R&D department, he is constantly in the know with 
the advent of technology and the problems arised 
within the industry. His extensive knowledge of market 
intelligence provide him a head start in developing 
products that are in tune with the market needs; from 
a wide array of PXIe modules to high pin count digital 
testers.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.

LOW BOK SIEW
R&D Director

Low Bok Siew, a Malaysian, male, age 38, was 
appointed as R&D Director on 1 April 2013. He 
graduated from University of Malaya with a Bachelor 
in Electrical Engineering degree in 2002.

He started his career in 2002 with Agilent Technologies 
(M) Sdn Bhd (“Agilent”) as the Product Engineer 
and was subsequently promoted to Senior Product 
Engineer in the Signal Sources Department. He was 
responsible in leading several microwave products 
and knowledge transfers from Agilent’s site in USA to 
Agilent Technologies Penang in 2002-2005, and has 
successfully set-up the production of the microwave 
products from front-of-line to end-of-line. 

He joined our Group in 2005 as a Project Manager 
and was promoted to R&D Director in 2013. He has an 
extensive working experience in the RF-related field 
in particularly, the signal source production support. 
His in-depth knowledge includes RF and analogue 
designs, various test and measurement devices such 
as signal generators, spectrum analysers, network 
analysers and power sensors. He is responsible for 
defining and designing the hardware discipline for our 
testers. He is constantly bridging and streamlining the 
communication between hardware and digital.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.
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PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

TAN E CHIANG
Senior Marketing Director

Tan E Chiang, a Malaysian, male, age 40, was 
appointed as Senior Marketing Director on 1 April 2010. 
He graduated from University of Technology Malaysia 
with a Bachelor in Electrical Engineering degree 
majoring in Telecommunication in 1999.

He started his career in 2000 as the Field Support 
Engineer with Lucent Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd. In 
2003, he joined Intel Microelectronics (M) Sdn Bhd 
as the Senior Technical Marketing Engineer and had 
several promotions before assuming the position of 
Lead Application Engineer. During his employment 
with Intel Microelectronics (M) Sdn Bhd, he was 
responsible in setting up a new division in Penang 
while leading a team to support regional marketing 
and customer support activities within the Asia-
Pacific region. In 2006, he joined Intel Technology as 
the Strategic Product Planner where he is involved in 
road mapping the division’s long term strategic plan 
and strategic product definition activities. He is also 
involved in setting up a new department to transfer 
product definition activities from Intel Technology to 
Intel Technology Malaysia.

He joined our Group in 2007 as the Marketing Manager 
and was promoted to Senior Marketing Director in 
2010. He is adept in long term marketing strategy 
including product definition, market segmentation, 
brand building, and customers retaining. With his well-
connected network, he has fortified the Group’s brand 
foundation among the key players in the ATE industry 
both locally and internationally. He is in charge of his 
extended team members in offshore to cater to the 
growing international customer base.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.

MOY SHIN FEI
Senior Software Director

Moy Shin Fei, a Malaysian, male, age 38, was 
appointed as Senior Software Director on 1 April 2014. 
He graduated from University of Kebangsaan Malaysia 
with a Bachelor in Electrical, Electronics and System 
Engineering degree in 2002. 

He started his career in 2002 with Altera as a Component 
Applications Engineer and was involved in design and 
development of new products check-out, evaluation 
and characterisation, technical collaterals and setting 
up of the internet portal for the Altera group. In 2004, 
he joined Agilent as the Senior IC Design Engineer and 
was involved in designing the revolutionary laser mouse 
sensor. He has vast working experience in architecting 
and designing digital hardware system, embedded 
processor system, firmware and client/server desktop 
applications.

He joined our Group as the R&D Manager in 2005 and 
was promoted to Senior Software Director in 2014. 
He is responsible for test system architecture that 
defines our software roadmap and scalable software 
architecture. In tune with software market trend and 
transition, he is planning our entry into Industry 4.0.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.
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John Ng Say Huat, a Malaysian, male, age 40, was 
appointed as Operation Director on 1 April 2017. He 
graduated from University of Technology Malaysia 
with a Bachelor in Mechanical Engineering degree 
majoring in Aeronautical in 2000. 

He started his career in 2000 as the Product Engineer 
with Sony Electronic (M) Sdn Bhd. In 2002, he joined ITW 
Meritex Sdn Bhd as the Product Engineer in Electronic 
Component Packaging System (“ECPS”) division and 
had several promotions before assuming the role of 
Operation Manager in Automotive (IMPRO) division. 
He had a wide range of experience in Jedec Tray 
designing from managing the Asia region’s customers 
during his stint with ECPS. Then, he was actively involved 
in market share expansion and business acquisition 
projects as a Sales Manager. An internal transfer 
to automotive division saw his accomplishment in 
breaking through business downturn crisis within the 
South East Asia region. He was able to provide overall 
cost-effective solutions to customers with exhaustive 
sourcing, products transfer, and projects localisation. 

He joined our Group in 2015 as the Operation Manager 
and was promoted to Operation Director in 2017. He is 
accountable to lead an established operational team 
in our Group, constantly improving operational time 
effectiveness and quality assurance. Besides that, he 
is actively involved in developing local and regional 
business, optimising production capacity, maximising 
planning efficiency by revamping the delivery 
schedule and internal workloads.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.

PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Cont’d)

JOHN NG SAY HUAT
Operation Director

Notes:

1. All the above Key Senior Management do not have any conflict of interest with the Company.
2. Other than traffic offences, none of the Key Senior Management of the Company has any convictions for offences within the past 5 years or any 

public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

SEAN LIN HSIU-HUNG
Worldwide Sales Director / Far East Sales General 
Manager

Sean Lin Hsiu-Hung, a Taiwanese, male, age 47, was 
appointed as Worldwide Sales Director on 1 April 2017. 
He graduated from National Chiao Tung University 
of Taiwan with a Bachelor in Electronic Engineering 
majoring in Tele-Communication in 1997. 

He started his career in 1997 with Schlumberger 
Limited as an Application Engineer, and eventually 
took on roles as an Application Manager cum 
Field Marketing Manager in NPTest, Inc.. In 2002, he 
joined Chroma ATE, Inc. as the Product Manager of 
Semiconductor Business Unit and was in charge of 
business development, and market positioning and 
pricing; setting expectation and benchmark for the 
first Taiwan ATE company. In 2006, he joined Teradyne, 
Inc. as the Regional Business Development Manager 
(“BDM”) of Global Service Organisation. Subsequently, 
he progressed to Aeroflex, Inc. as the Asia Pacific BDM 
in 2010, where he transformed instrument solution into 
semiconductor test solution provider. He had a wide 
range of experience in semiconductor test industry 
from managing the Asia region’s outsourced assembly 
and test (“OSAT”) companies through the supply chain 
of the global fabless’s demand. He also led the sales 
team in new product market penetration and market 
share expansion.

He joined our Group in 2015 as the General Manager 
East Asia and was promoted to Worldwide Sales 
Director / Far East Sales General Manager in 2017. 
He is in charge to drive both local and international 
sales. He works closely with the marketing team 
in strategising new market penetration, creating 
opportunities, and optimising sales volumes. He is 
responsible for leveraging and integrating current 
sales and field support teams to achieve the Group’s 
revenue and profit target. Keeping track of global 
fabless requirements, he continues to grow sales 
volume through the demand of Asia’s OSAT in South 
East Asia and Far East Region.

He has no family relationship with any Directors or 
major shareholders of the Company.

He does not hold any directorships in any other public 
companies and listed issuers.
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AEMULUS’ CHRONOLOGICAL 
SUMMARY OF THE 2017 EVENTS

On this date, we fulfilled one of our 2015 goals – we opened 
our doors and celebrated New Year with our customers 
from Far East Region. The opening of Taiwan office was 
more than just an expansion plan worth celebrating; it was 
planned with our customers in mind. Just a stone’s throw 
away from Hsinchu Science and Industrial Park, our Taiwan 
office has comfortable space for meetings, workstations, 
and a laboratory. It serves as a satellite laboratory for Far 
East customers and post-sales and support centre with 
spares in store. To be specific, customers can conduct 
test developments with our laboratory facility before 
deployment in subcontractors. 
In fact, the laboratory facility is expected to provide a 
faster turnaround on customers support in Far East Region. 
Time is the essence of this industry and speed is one of 
our company philosophies. The mentioned facility allows 
customers to fix issues without obstructing test running on 
the production floors. That, to us, is the best support we 
can render to our customers in times of need.

Aemulus has purchased from Penang Development 
Corporation a 1.62 acres land located at Plot 2, Bayan 
Lepas Industrial Park, Penang to support the company’s 
expansion plan. This signing of Sales and Purchase 
Agreement ceremony was held in the presence of Mr. Lim 
Guan Eng, Chief Minister of Penang, Mr. Ng Sang Beng, 
Chief Executive Officer of Aemulus and witnessed by 
Chairman, Ms. Chok Kwee Bee.

We went big at SEMICON Taiwan 2017 with the launch 
of one of our Amoeba™ series, AMB7600-S. For the past 
15 years, we have worked closely with our customers to 
meet their overall requirements, which is a one-way route 
to achieve lower Cost of Test (CoT). While doing that, we 
have identified a common stumbling block that affects 
a majority of the industry players. As such, we create 
RealSmart™ RF Test Environment that offers a solution to 
this obstacle with its key features of three; RealSmart™ 
Hardware Abstraction Technology, RealSmart™ Industry 
4.0 Platform, and RealSmart™ Virtualised Tester. 
AMB7600-S was launched in the presence of our valued 
customers and guests from Far East Region. Their 
continuous support drives our passion and commitment 
even further.

3rd
January, 2017

Corporate Affairs
The Opening of Taiwan Branch

13th – 15th
September, 2017

Marketing & Promotions
SEMICON Taiwan 2017

23rd
January, 2017

Corporate Affairs 
The Sales and Purchase 
Agreement Signing Ceremony 

13th
October, 2017

Staff Engagement
Symposium & Annual Dinner

It is in Aemulus’ tradition annually to set the following year’s 
direction with a Symposium where all employees gather. 
As opposed to a regular sit-down dinner, the organising 
committee surprised everyone with a brief “Ghostly” 
themed itinerary with entertainment by LED dancers, 
flash mob styled dancing and singing, before ending the 
evening with a sassy performance by a live band. The 
catch was that all the performances of the evening were 
by Aemulus’ employees!
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT

There is a local proverb in Bahasa Malaysia, “melentur 
buluh biarlah dari rebungnya.” Literally, it is translated 
to; best to bend a bamboo when it is still a shoot. This 
saying simply meant to remind parents to start early in 
their effort to mould their children in many areas of life. 

This year, we went back to basic in advocating 
entrepreneurship; we reached out to a group of teens 
aged from 14 to 19. Hailed from various countries 
namely Macau, Hong Kong, People’s Republic of 
China, Taiwan and the United States of America, they 
met local participants in Malaysia for two weeks. 

Young Outliers’ Game Changers Camp has been 
running in Silicon Valley, organised by a group of 
esteemed educator, serial entrepreneur and investor 
until this year. Game Changers Camp 2017 was the 
First International Camp conducted offshore in Kuala 
Lumpur. This innovative summer camp promotes, “Dare 
to dream. Dare to build. Dare to fail and persevere.” –– a 
philosophy resonated with our company culture. In fact, 
we often described our workplace as a playground. A 
playground for us to explore, learn from mistakes and 
chase after our goals with passion. 

Aemulus was more than just an official sponsor of this 

Alike a co-working space, participants feel free to roam 
around during breaks; grab a cup of coffee and chat away 
with their new friends

This camp talks about an emotion that is rarely found in 
young adults and how ‘empathy’ can provide customer 
insight

12th
August, 2017

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Young Outliers’ Game Changer 
Camp 2017

31st
July

–

The spirit of entrepreneurship runs deep in our founders’ blood. Last year, we reached out 
to local startups via an incubation programme initiated by us, Second Startup - Powered 
by Aemulus. Under Aemulus’ wing, one of the startups, which has innovated assistive 
technology for the visually impaired sought technical advice from us, eventually gained 
attention from local and international markets. 

It is our mission to advocate entrepreneurship, at the same time help aspiring entrepreneurs 
to turn their dreams into reality. This year, Aemulus rolled out a logo to represent our effort 
in advocating entrepreneurship. The logo is meant to illustrate a flying Cheetah leaping 
off the ground. Hence, the name “Leap-O-Pad”; everyone who intends to have a go at 
entrepreneurship must first take the leap of faith. 

Under Leap-O-Pad, Aemulus sponsored Young Outliers’ Game Changers Camp 2017. 
This programme aimed to invoke teens’ interest in entrepreneurship and encourage a 
different school of thought.

camp as our Chief Executive Officer, Ng Sang Beng 
was actively involved as a speaker and a judge. Sang 
Beng showed the mechanism of electronics creatively 
to the teens by deconstructing the steps of transmitting 
and receiving, then adding a feature most-loved by 
the teens, robots. The teens quickly adopted the idea 
of electronics sensors after a round of ‘robotic’ sparring 
with two groups of teens assuming roles of the robot’s 
moving parts. 

This camp ran on a stretch of two weeks and ended 
with the Dolphin Tank whereby each team made up of 
members of different age, gender and origin presented 
their business concepts to the panel of judges, 
witnessed by their parents and friends. During the finale 
of this camp, our Chairman, Chok Kwee Bee made an 
appearance as one of the judges as well. Her role on 
the judging panel has emphasised the importance of 
having a business proposal that could attract investors. 

This camp aimed to bring the spirit of entrepreneurship 
closer to teens by setting a ground belief that 
entrepreneurship is about steering a cruise ship, yet it 
could be as simple as rowing a boat with a firm grasp 
of your resources and tools, and most importantly how 
impactful your solutions are to the society.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
STATEMENT (Cont’d)

Sang Beng teaches the mechanism of electronics with 
active participation from the crowd in simulating a robot

All of the participants cheer with the winning team at the 
end of the Dolphin Tank

This event is organised by Malaysia’s only independent 
radio station BFM – highlighting business news and 
current affairs. Aligned with its theme, Back to Basic – 
Reflect, Restrategise, Recharge, Sang Beng brought the 
audience back to the early years of his startups. Pictures 
speak a thousand words; Sang Beng brought those 
emotions and feelings back alive on stage with a series 
of pictures depicting his journey of entrepreneurship. 
Spoke as an Endeavour Malaysia Entrepreneur, he 
shared a crisis the company faced in 2012. He was at a 
crossroad; to keep going the same path or take another 
route. Eventually he took on the path that brought him 
back to a beginning stage and strived for tremendous 
growth in the next two years. 

7th
September, 2017

Corporate Social Responsibility
BFM Enterprise Breakaway 2017

Everyone gets to be both, the entrepreneur and the customerThe spirit of entrepreneurship does not discriminate age
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is committed to ensure that a high standard of corporate governance is practised 
throughout the Company and its subsidiary (“the Group”) in discharging its responsibilities with integrity, transparency 
and professionalism to protect and enhance shareholders’ value and the financial position of the Group. 

The Board is pleased to report on the application of the principles of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
2012 (“Code”) and the extent of compliance with the Recommendations of the Code as required under Code 
during the financial year ended 30 September 2017. 

1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1.1 Board Charter
The Board has adopted a charter to provide a reference for Directors in relation to the Board’s role, 
duties and responsibilities, division of responsibilities between the Board, the Board Committees, the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Board Charter is subject to review periodically in order to 
ensure consistency with the Board’s strategic intent and relevant standards of corporate governance.
  

1.2 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board
The Board recognises its duties and responsibilities as detailed in the Board Charter as expectations on 
how they discharge their duties.

The Board assumes the following principal functions and responsibilities:-

a) Review, approve and monitor the overall strategies and direction of the Group;
b) Identify the principal risks and implement appropriate system to manage such risks;
c) Oversee and evaluate the conduct and performance of the Group’s business;
d) Review the adequacy of the Group’s internal control policy; 
e) Succession planning, including appointing, assessing training needs and fixing the compensation of 

the Directors; and
f) Ensures senior management has sufficient calibre and a succession plan is in place to ensure 

continuity of management.

The Board has delegated specific duties to three (3) subcommittees (Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees). These Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and report the same to 
the Board with their recommendations. The ultimate responsibility for the final decision on all matters, 
however, lies with the Board.

The presences of Independent Non-Executive Directors are necessary for the corporate accountability as 
they provide unbiased and independent views. Even though all Directors have equal responsibility for the 
Group’s operations, the role of Independent Non-Executive Directors is particularly important in ensuring 
the strategies proposed by the management are discussed and examined while taking into account the 
long-term implications of the business, the Group, shareholders and other stakeholders’ interests.

The Board is alert to the possibility of potential conflicts of interest involving the Directors and the Company 
and affirms their commitment to ensure that such situations of conflicts are avoided.

1.3 Clear Functions of the Board and Management
To ensure the effective discharge of its functions and responsibilities, the Board Charter of the Company 
clearly set out the relevant matters that are reserved for the Board’s approval, as well as those that are 
delegated to the Board Committees, Independent Non-Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Key matters reserved for Board’s decision include, inter alia, the following:-

a) Approval of business strategy and Group’s operational plan and annual budget;
b) Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company or its subsidiaries that are material in nature;
c) Approval of investment or divestment in a company / business / property / undertaking;
d) Approval of investment or divestment of a capital project which represents a significant diversification 

from the existing business activities;
e) Any other significant business direction; and
f) Corporate proposal on fund raising.
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1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES (Cont’d)

1.4 Code of Conduct and Ethics 
The Board has also adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics which is incorporated in the Board Charter of 
the Company. The said Code sets forth the expectations of the Company for its Directors and describes 
sound principles and standards of good practice that each Director is expected to uphold. It is formulated 
to enhance the standard of corporate governance and promote ethical conduct of the Directors.

Directors are required to uphold the highest integrity in discharging their duties and in dealing with 
stakeholders, customers, employees and regulators. 

1.5 Promoting Sustainability
The Group recognises the importance of sustainability and its increasing impact to the business in a way 
that is environmentally safe and sound. The sustainability activities are set out in the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Statement.

1.6 Board meetings and Access to Information and Advice
The Board members have full and unrestricted access to information on the Group’s business and affairs in 
discharging their duties. All Directors are provided with the agenda and a full set of Board papers before 
each Board Meeting is convened. In addition to discussing the Group’s performances in the meeting, 
certain matters which are reserved specifically for the Board’s decision are discussed. These include the 
approval of corporate plans and budgets, acquisitions and disposals of assets that are material to the 
Group, major investments, changes to management and control structure of the Group and key policies, 
procedures and authority limits.

Senior management staff, investment bankers, accountants or solicitors will be appointed to act 
as advisers for any corporate proposal to be undertaken by the Group, and will be invited to attend 
Board meetings at which the corporate proposal is to be deliberated, in order to provide the Board with 
professional opinion and advice, and to clarify issues that may be raised by any Director.  

The Board is regularly updated and advised by the Company Secretaries on new statutory as well as 
regulatory requirements. Every member of the Board has ready and unrestricted access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretaries and the senior management. The Company Secretaries attend 
all Board and Board Committees’ meetings and ensure that meetings are properly convened and that 
accurate and proper records of the proceedings and resolutions passed are taken and maintained.

Where appropriate, the Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense on specific issues to enable the Board to make well-informed decisions in discharging their duties 
on the matters being deliberated.

1.7 Company Secretaries
The Board is of the view that the current Company Secretaries are suitably qualified, competent and can 
support the Board in carrying out its roles and responsibilities.  The Board obtained appropriate advice and 
services, if necessary, from the Company Secretaries to ensure adherence to Board meeting procedures 
and compliance with regulatory requirements.

2. STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION

To assist the Board in the discharge of their duties effectively, the Board has delegated specific functions to 
certain committees, namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. Each 
committee will operate within its clearly defined terms of reference. The Chairman of the various committees 
will report to the Board on the outcome of the committee meetings.

2.1 Audit Committee
The summary of the activities of the Audit Committee during the financial year ended 30 September 2017 
are set out under the Audit Committee Report in this Annual Report.

2.2 Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination 
Committee is chaired by a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(Cont’d)
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2. STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION (Cont’d)

2.2 Nomination Committee (Cont’d)
The duties and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are guided by its terms of reference. It meets 
as and when required but the Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. 

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to:-

a) review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
b) review the nomination for the appointment or reappointment of the Board members;
c) recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election; and
d) ensure that all Board appointees undergo an appropriate introduction and training programmes.

The Nomination Committee has developed criteria to assess the effectiveness of the Board, the Board 
committees and individual Director. The evaluation on the Board’s effectiveness is divided into the 
following key areas:-

• Composition
• Strategy and entrepreneurship
•  Legal and regulatory requirements
•  Corporate governance, risk management and internal controls
•  Audit, accounting, financial reporting and taxation
•  Human capital
•  Sales and marketing
•  Production and quality assurance

The process also assesses the competencies of each Director in the areas of their contribution, performance, 
calibre and personality in relation to the skills, experience and other qualities they bring to the Board.  

The Nomination Committee also undertakes annual assessment of the independence of its independent 
directors based on criteria of independence as per requirements of ACE Market Listing Requirements.

When considering new appointment, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate the balance of skills, 
knowledge and experience on the board, and, in the light of this evaluation prepare a description of 
the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates the 
Committee shall consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds and consider candidates on 
merit and against objective criteria, taking care that appointees have sufficient time available to devote 
to the position.

The Nomination Committee and the Board do not set any target on gender, ethnicity and age diversity. 
Currently, the Company will provide equal opportunity to candidates who have the necessary skills, 
experience, competencies and other attributes regardless of gender, ethnicity and age. Nonetheless, the 
Company already has a well-diversified Board and the current composition of the Board with a female 
director serves well to Recommendation 2.2 of the Code.

The Nomination Committee had met three times during the financial year and the activities of the 
Nomination Committee are summarised as follows :-

(a) Reviewed and assessed the balance composition of the Board members, the effectiveness of the 
Board as a whole, the committees of the Board and the contribution of each individual director.

(b) Assessed the performance of Independent Non-Executive Directors.
(c) Reviewed and recommended the re-election of Directors who were retiring and seeking for re-

election at the Second Annual General Meeting.
(d) Reviewed and recommended to the Board the appointment of Mr. Ng Chin Wah as Executive 

Director of the Company.
(e) Reviewed the term of office and performance of an audit committee.

The Nomination Committee is satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by the Independent 
Non-Executive Directors as well as the result of the assessment on the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole, the committees of the Board and the contribution of each individual director. The Nomination 
Committee is also satisfied with the performance of the audit committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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2. STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION (Cont’d)

2.3 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors and 2 Executive 
Directors and is chaired by a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. It meets as and when required 
but the Remuneration Committee shall meet not less than once a year.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference and its primary function is to recommend 
to the Board from time to time, the remuneration framework and package of the Executive Directors in 
all forms to commensurate with the respective contributions of the Executive Directors. The Executive 
Directors are to abstain from deliberations and voting on the decision in respect of their own remuneration 
packages. The Board as a whole decides on the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, including 
the Non-Executive Chairman. The individual concerned should abstain from deliberations of their own 
remuneration packages. Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits are subject to shareholders’ approval at 
the Annual General Meeting.  

In general, the remuneration is structured so as to link reward to corporate and individual performance, 
as in the case of the Executive Directors and senior management. As for the Non-Executive Directors, the 
level of remuneration reflects the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the particular 
Non-Executive Directors concerned.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2017, for 
the Company as well as the group basis are as follows:

Salary, allowance, 
bonus and EPF

(RM)
Benefit in Kind

(RM)
Fee

(RM)
Total
(RM)

Group

Executive Directors 979,375 3,750 - 983,125
Non-Executive Directors 33,000 - 160,000 193,000

Company

Executive Directors - - - -
Non-Executive Directors 33,000 - 160,000 193,000

The numbers of Directors whose total remuneration fall within certain bands are as follow:

Number of Directors
Company Group

Range of Remuneration Executive Non-Executive Executive Non-Executive

Below RM50,000 - - 2 -
RM50,001 to RM100,000 - 3 - 3
RM100,001 to RM150,000 - - - -
RM150,001 to RM200,000 - - 1 -
RM200,001 to RM250,000 - - - -
RM250,001 to RM300,000 - - - -
RM300,001 to RM350,000 - - 1 -
RM350,001 to RM400,000 - - - -
RM400,001 to RM450,000 - - 1 -

Mr. Kan Ky-Vern, the Executive Director/Chief Financial Officer was re-designated as Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director on 1 March 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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3. REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE

3.1 Annual Assessment of Independent Directors
The Board recognises the importance of independence and objectivity in the decision making process. 
The Board and its Nomination Committee in their annual assessment concluded that each of the three 
Independent Non-Executive Directors continue to demonstrate conduct and behaviour that are essential 
indicators of independence. Each of them continues to fulfill the definition and criteria of independence 
as set out in ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).

3.2 Tenure of Independent Directors
The Board notes the recommendation of the Code on the tenure of an Independent Director should 
not exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years. However, upon completion of the nine (9) years, the 
Independent Director may continue to serve the Board subject to the Director’s re-designation as Non-
Independent Director. In the event the Director is to remain designated as an Independent Director, the 
Board shall first justify and obtain shareholders’ approval on a yearly basis.

Presently, the tenure of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors does not exceed a cumulative term 
of nine (9) years as recommended by the Code.

3.3 Separation of Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The role of the Independent Non-Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are distinct and 
separate to ensure that there is a balance of power and authority. The Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman is responsible for the leadership, effectiveness, conduct and governance of the Board. 

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the day-to-day management of the business and 
implementation of the Board’s policies and decisions. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to ensure 
due execution of strategic goals, effective operations within the Group, and to explain, clarify and inform 
the Board on key matters pertaining to the Group.

All decisions of the Board are made based on decision of the majority and no single Board member 
can make any decision on behalf of the Board, unless duly authorised by the Board. As such, no single 
individual or a group of individuals dominates the decision-making process.

3.4 Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution (Articles of Association of the Company as adopted 
before the commencement of the Companies Act 2016), at the first Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, all the Directors shall retire from the office and be eligible for re-election and an election of 
Directors shall take place each year at the Annual General Meeting of the Company where one third 
(1/3) of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then 
the number nearest to one third (1/3) shall retire from office and be eligible for re-election. All the Directors 
shall retire from office once at least in each three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election. A retiring 
Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he/she retires.

The Directors to retire each year shall be those who have been the longest in office since their last 
election, but as between persons who became Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless 
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director, 
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board but the total number of Directors 
shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in accordance with the Constitution of the Company. Any 
Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following Annual General Meeting and shall then 
be eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors who are to retire 
by rotation at that meeting. 

The details of the Directors seeking re-election at the forthcoming Third Annual General Meeting are 
disclosed in page 109 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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3. REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE (CONT’D)

3.5 Composition of the Board
The Board currently consists of eight (8) members, comprising four (4) Executive Directors, one (1) Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director and three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board is 
led by a Senior Independent Non-Executive Chairman. The Non-Executive Directors complements the 
Board with a mix of industry-specific knowledge, skill, expertise and commercial experience. There is a 
clear division of responsibilities among directors to ensure a balance of power and authority. The number 
of Independent Directors is in compliance with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities for the ACE 
Market which requires the Board to have at least two (2) Independent Directors or 1/3 of the Board of 
Directors, whichever is higher, to be Independent Directors. 

The brief profile of each Board member is presented under Directors’ Profile of this Annual Report. 

4. FOSTER COMMITMENT

4.1 Time Commitment
The Board is satisfied with the time commitment given by the Directors of the Company in discharging their 
duties for the financial year ended 30 September 2017. The Directors also understand their responsibility to 
notify the Chairman before accepting any new directorship.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four (4) times a year, with additional meetings to be convened 
when necessary. The Board met six (6) times during the financial year.

The Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings during the financial year ended 30 September 2017 
were as follows :-

Name of Directors Attendance

Chok Kwee Bee 6/6
Ng Sang Beng 6/6
Yeoh Chee Keong 6/6
Kan Ky-Vern 6/6
Wong Shee Kian 5/6
Ong Chong Chee 6/6
Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu 6/6
Ng Chin Wah 4/4

4.2 Directors’ Training
The Board acknowledges the importance of continuous education and training to enable effective 
discharge of its duties and encourage Directors to attend talks, training programmes and seminars 
to update themselves on new developments in the business environment. The Board will through the 
Nomination Committee evaluate and determine the training needs of its Directors on an annual basis.

All Directors have attended and successfully completed the Mandatory Accreditation Training Programme 
as required by Bursa Securities. They have also attended various continuous education programmes such 
as seminars and conferences.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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4. FOSTER COMMITMENT (Cont’d)

4.2 Directors’ Training (Cont’d)
The following members of the Board had attended various undermentioned programmes :-

Name No. of days Mode Title of Training

Chok Kwee Bee 1

1
1
1
1
1

2
1

Workshop

Conference
Conference
Conference

Forum
Talk

Forum
Conference

Risk Management Programme for Audit & 
Risk Committee

Cyberjaya Tech Funding Symposium
12th Khazanah Global Lecture
SCxSC Digital Finance Conference
Gartner KL Predicts 2017
ICLIF and MINDA - BREAKFAST TALK WITH ACGA: 

CG WATCH 2016 – ECOSYSTEMS MATTER
Global Transformation Forum
The Release of the Malaysian Code on 

Corporate Governance

Ng Sang Beng 1/2 Seminar Killing the Pricing Game : Strategies for B2B 
companies entering the US

Yeoh Chee Keong 1 Seminar Designing Directors’ Performance Assessment For 
Director’s Independence & Effectiveness

Kan Ky-Vern 1/2 Seminar The Companies Act 2016: An Overview and its 
Significant Impact on Auditing

Wong Shee Kian 2
2
1
1

3

3

Training
Training
Training
Training

Conference

Conference

Unleashing the greatness in others
Finance for non-finance managers 
Overview of 5G Technology
How to Communicate Goals and Performance 

Expectations to Team
IEEE International Test Conference Asia, Taiwan 

(ITC-Asia)
Global 5G Congress, Shang Hai, China

Ong Chong Chee 1
2
2

Seminar
Conference
Conference

2017 Budget Seminar
National Tax Conference 2017
National GST Conference 2017

Frisscor Ho Chii Ssu 4

1

1
1
2

Training

Training

Seminar
Training
Training

ITIL Service Transition Lifecycle Certification 
(Intermediate Level)

PeopleFirst Talent Development & Leadership 
Training

Managed Services Seminar
Knowledge Centered Support Training 
The Art of Negotiating the Best Deal

Ng Chin Wah 1 Seminar MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
and MFRS 16  Leases

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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5. UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING 

5.1 Financial Reporting
The Board aims to present a balanced and clear assessment of the Group’s financial positions and 
prospects in the financial statements and quarterly announcements to shareholders, investors and 
regulatory authorities in line with the financial reporting standards.

The Board is assisted by the Audit Committee to oversee the financial reporting processes and the 
quality of financial reporting of the Group. All quarterly financial reports and financial statements are 
reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee before they are tabled to the Board for consideration. 
The Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the preparation of the annual audited financial 
statements is set out in page 43 of this Annual Report.

5.2 Relationship with Auditors
The Audit Committee discusses the nature and scope of audit and reporting obligations with the external 
auditors before commencement of audit engagement. 

A transparent and appropriate relationship with the auditors, both internal and external has been 
established through the Audit Committee. The external auditors are invited to discuss the annual financial 
statements, their audit plan, audit findings and other special matters that require the Board’s attention.

The Audit Committee is empowered by the Board to review all issues in relation to appointment and 
re-appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors. The Audit Committee has assessed the 
suitability and independence of the external auditors. The external auditors have confirmed that they are 
independent throughout the conduct of audit engagement in accordance with terms of professional 
and regulatory requirements. Accordingly, the Audit Committee has recommended the re-appointment 
of the external auditors at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

6. RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS 

6.1 Internal Control and Risk Management
The Board recognises the importance of risk management and internal controls in the overall management 
processes.

An overview of the state of internal controls and risk management within the Group is set out in this Annual 
Report under the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control.

The Board has an overall responsibility in maintaining a sound internal control system that provides 
reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations and compliance with the internal procedures 
and guidelines. 

6.2 Internal Audit Function
The Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an independent professional firm, which is 
independent of the activities and operations of the Group. The Internal Auditors work within the scope of 
an audit plan, which has been approved by the Audit Committee, to review and test the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group. The external Auditors will, in the course of their statutory 
audit, conduct a review of the internal control procedures and highlight any internal control weaknesses 
which have come to their attention. All such findings and recommendations made by the Internal and 
External Auditors are reported to the Audit Committee. Any significant issues are discussed at the Audit 
Committee’s meetings.

The Internal Auditors will follow up on all its recommendations to ensure that management has implemented 
them in a timely and appropriate fashion. The Internal Auditors support the Audit Committee in its role to 
assess the effectiveness of the Group’s overall system of internal controls. 

Details on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control are furnished in pages 41 to 42 of this 
Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(Cont’d)

7. ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE

7.1 Corporate Disclosure Policies and Procedures
Along with good corporate governance practices, the Company is committed to provide to investors 
and the public with comprehensive, accurate and material information on a timely basis.

In line with this commitment and in order to enhance transparency and accountability, the Board has 
adopted an Internal Corporate Disclosure Policies and Procedures to facilitate the handling and disclosure 
of material information in a timely and accurate manner.

7.2 Leverage of Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information
Information of the Group is also accessible through the Company’s website (http://www.aemulus.com) 
which is updated on a regular basis. Information available in the website includes among others the 
Group Annual Report, quarterly financial announcements, major and significant announcements and 
latest corporate developments of the Group.

8. STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the value of investor relations and endeavours to maintain constant and effective 
communication with shareholders through timely and comprehensive announcements. 

The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum dialogue with all shareholders. The participation of 
shareholders and investors, both individual and institutional, at general meetings is encouraged whilst requests 
for briefings from the press and investment analysts are usually met as a matter of course. 

Notice of Annual General Meeting and the annual report are sent to shareholders at least 21 days before the 
date of the meeting.

All the resolutions set out in the Notice of the last Annual General Meeting were put to vote by poll. The outcome 
of the Annual General Meeting was announced to Bursa Securities on the same meeting day. 

9. WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group also has no immediate plans to implement a diversity policy as it is of the view that employment 
is dependent on each candidate’s skills, experience, core competencies and other qualities, regardless of 
gender, ethnicity and age. The Group will provide equal opportunity to candidates with merit.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance throughout the Company and 
the Group, and the highest level of integrity and ethical standards in all of its business dealings.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution passed in the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on 20 
December 2017. 
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1. MATERIAL CONTRACTS INVOLVING DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OR MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS’ 
INTEREST

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiary involving interests of the 
Directors, chief executive who is not a director or major shareholders, either still subsisting at the end of the 
financial year or entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

2. RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

There was no recurrent related party transaction of a revenue or trading nature during the financial year 
ended 30 September 2017.

3. UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

The listing of and quotation for the Company’s entire enlarged issued share capital of RM43,885,000 comprising 
438,850,000 shares on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad was completed on 15 September 
2015.

In conjunction with and as an integral part of the listing, the Company undertook a Public Issue of 87,790,000 
new ordinary shares of RM0.10 at an issue price of RM0.28 per ordinary share (“Public Issue”). Relevant details 
of the initial public offering were set out in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 26 August 2015.

The gross proceeds from the Public Issue amounted to RM24.58 million and the status of the utilisation of the 
proceeds raised as at 15 December 2017 was as follows:-

Description
Timeframe for 

Utilisation
Proposed 
Utilisation

Actual  
Utilisation Deviation

Balance to 
be Utilised

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 % RM’000

1. Working capital Within 24 
months

12,881 13,640 (759) (5.89) Fully utilised^

2. Research & 
Development 
expenditure

Within 24 
months

6,000 6,000 - - Fully utilised

3. Purchase of 
property, plant and 
equipment

Within 24 
months

2,000 2,000 - - Fully utilised

4. Marketing, 
branding and 
promotion

Within 24 
months

1,200 1,200 - - Fully utilised

5. Estimated listing 
expenses

Immediate 2,500 1,741 759 30.36 Fully utilised^

TOTAL 24,581 24,581 - - Fully utilised

Note:-

^ The excess of RM 759,000 was utilised for working capital purpose.

The utilisation of proceeds above should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus of the Company dated 26 
August 2015. As stated in the Section 3.10.1 (e), page 27 of the Prospectus of the Company dated 26 August 
2015:-

In the event if the actual listing expenses are higher than budgeted, the shortfall will be funded out of the 
portion allocated for working capital. Conversely, if the actual listing expenses are lower than budgeted, the 
surplus will be utilised for general working capital purposes. 

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
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4. AUDIT FEES 

During the financial year ended 30 September 2017, the amount of audit fees paid to external auditors by the 
Company and the Group respectively were as follows:-

Audit Fee
(RM)

Company 16,000
Group 49,000

5. NON-AUDIT FEES 

During the financial year ended 30 September 2017, the amount of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors 
and its affiliates by the Company and the Group respectively were as follows:- 

Non-Audit Fee
(RM)

Company 15,000
Group 20,000

Non-audit services rented by Grant Thornton and their affilates for:
-Review of statement on risk management and internal control 
-Review of quarterly announcements 
-Tax services fees 

6. AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (“RSP”)

RSP is the only share issuance scheme of Aemulus Holdings Berhad in the financial year ended 30 September 
2017 (“FY2017”), a maximum of 10% of the issued shares of Aemulus Holdings Berhad (excluding treasury shares) 
(“Plan Share”) are available at any point in time during the tenure of the RSP. Further information on the RSP is 
set out in the Directors’ Report and Note 31 of the Annual Audited Financial Statements for FY2017 in this Annual 
Report.

Brief details on the number of Plan Shares granted, vested and outstanding since the commencement of the 
RSP on 15 February 2016, financial year ended 30 September 2016 and FY2017 are set out in the table below :

For the period from 15 
February 2016 to 30 
September 2016 Type of Grant Total

Executive 
Director / chief 

executive
Senior 

Management
Other Selected 

Employees
Number of Plan Shares 
granted - - - - -
Number of Plan Shares 
vested - - - - -
Number of Plan Shares 
forfeited - - - - -
Number of Plan Shares 
outstanding as at 30 
September 2016 - - - - -

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
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6. AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (“RSP”) (Cont’d)

For the period from 1 
October 2016 to 30 
September 2017

Type of Grant Total
Executive 

Director / chief 
executive

Senior 
Management

Other Selected 
Employees

Number of Plan Shares 
granted RSP 808,300 - 107,200 701,100
Number of Plan Shares 
vested RSP - - - -
Number of Plan Shares 
forfeited RSP (21,500) - - (21,500)
Number of Plan Shares 
outstanding as at 30 
September 2017 RSP 786,800 - 107,200 679,600

The aggregate maximum allocation of the options or shares to the Directors and senior management of the 
Group shall be at the discretion of the RSP scheme committee, subject to the By-Laws of the RSP. As at 30 
September 2017, the actual percentage of Plan Shares granted to senior management was 13.26% of the total 
number of Plan Shares granted. The Company did not grant any Plan Share to Director for the FY2017.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
(Cont’d)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The primary objective of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in the effective discharge of its fiduciary 
responsibilities for corporate governance, financial reporting and internal control.

COMPOSITION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ong Chong Chee 
Chairman  (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Ms. Chok Kwee Bee  
Member (Senior Independent Non-Executive Director / Chairman)

Mr. Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu 
Member (Independent Non-Executive Director)

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

There were five (5) Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year ended 30 September 2017. The record 
of attendance is as follows:-

Name of Committee Member Attendance 

Mr. Ong Chong Chee 5/5
Ms. Chok Kwee Bee 5/5
Mr. Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu 5/5

In carrying out its duties, the Audit Committee reported to and updated the Board on significant issues and concerns 
discussed during the Audit Committee’s meetings and where appropriate, made necessary recommendations 
to the Board. The Secretaries was responsible to record all proceedings and minutes of all meetings of the Audit 
Committee.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

In line with the terms and reference  of the Audit Committee (“AC”), the following activities were carried out by AC 
during the financial year ended 30 September 2017 (“FY2017”) in discharging its functions and duties: -

(i) Financial Reporting Oversight 

a) Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results with the finance team and thereafter recommended 
to the Board for approval, for announcement to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and submission to 
Securities Commission.

 
b) Reviewed the annual audited financial statements with the external auditors and finance team, focusing 

particularly on significant changes to accounting policies and practices, going concern assumptions, 
adjustments arising from the audits, compliance with the relevant accounting standards and other legal 
requirements to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and the ACE Market 
Listing Requirements.

(ii) Oversee Activities of External Auditors in dealing with the Group

a) Discussed and reviewed the external auditors’ audit planning report for the FY2017 outlining their audit 
team, audit timeline, recent development of the Group, key areas of audit focus, fraud risk, communication 
of other significant audit matters, new audit reports for all entities, other updates such as Companies Act 
2016 and amendments to the Listing Requirements and proposed audit fees. 

b) The AC deliberated on the external auditors’ report at its meeting with regard to the relevant disclosures 
in the annual audited financial statements for financial year ended 30 September 2016.
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

(ii) Oversee Activities of External Auditors in dealing with the Group (Cont’d)

c) The AC reviewed the external auditors’ findings arising from audits, focusing on management’s comment 
in response to the audits in order to be satisfied that appropriate action is being taken.

d) The AC also discussed and reviewed with external auditors the applicability of the new accounting 
standards and new financial reporting regime issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board.

e) The AC reviewed the external auditors’ audit exit memorandum for financial year ended 30 September 
2016.

f) The AC met 3 times with the external auditors on 17 November 2016, 18 January 2017 and 17 August 2017 
respectively without the presence of the Executive Directors and management staff to discuss any issues 
of concern to the External Auditors arising from the annual statutory audit.

g) The AC reviewed the audit fees of the external auditors for the ensuing year prior to the Board of Directors 
for approval.

h) The AC reviewed and evaluated the performance and independence of the external auditors. The areas 
assessed were (a) caliber of external audit firm; (b) quality processes / performance; (c) audit team; (d) 
independence and objectivity; (e) audit scope and planning; (f) audit fees; (g) audit communications. 
The AC was satisfied with the performance and independency of the external auditors and recommended 
their re-appointment to the Board.

(iii) Internal Audit (“IA”) 

a) Reviewed and approved the appointment of Messrs. BDO Governance Advisory Sdn Bhd as Internal 
Auditors of the Company.

b) Reviewed the IA plan for year 2015-2018 as tabled by the internal auditors. 

c) Reviewed IA report from internal auditors and assessed the internal auditors’ findings, recommendations 
together with the management’s comments.     

d) Reviewed and assessed the internal audit function. 

(iv) Related Party Transaction

a) Reviewed any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the 
Company and the Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises the 
questions on management integrity.

(v) Other matters considered by Committee

a)  Reviewed the AC Report for inclusion in the Annual Report.

b)  Reviewed the revenue recognition policy and the provision for slow moving stock policy and thereafter 
recommended to the Board for approval. 

AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN

Aemulus Holdings Berhad Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) which had been approved by the shareholders of the 
Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 12 December 2014 and shall be in force for a duration of 
five years from 15 February 2016 until 14 February 2021. However, the RSP may at the discretion of the RSP scheme 
committee be extended provided always that the initial RSP scheme period stipulated above and such extension 
made pursuant to the By-Laws shall not in aggregate exceed a duration of ten (10) years. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 
(Cont’d)
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AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (Cont’d)

During the financial year, the Company has granted 808,300 ordinary shares under the RSP to the eligible employees 
and the vesting date of the RSP shares offered will be on 12 July 2018 and 12 July 2019. After the financial year ended 
30 September 2017, the Audit Committee verified the grant of Restricted Share Award to the eligible employees 
during the financial year ended 30 September 2017 pursuant to the RSP. The grant was made in accordance with 
the criteria of grant as set out in the By-laws of RSP. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit function is outsourced to an independent professional services firm to carry out internal audit 
services for the Group. Internal audit reports will be presented, together with Management’s response and proposed 
action plans to the Committee on a quarterly basis or as earlier as appropriate. Where areas of improvements were 
required, it was highlighted to the Management for implementation. The Audit Committee monitored the progress 
of the implementation.

The Internal Auditors undertake internal audit functions based on the audit plan approved by the Committee. The 
internal audit plan is derived based on the risk-based approach which addresses all the core auditable areas of the 
Group based on their risk profile. 

The total cost of the internal audit function incurred in respect of the financial year ended 30 September 2017 
amounted to RM37,100.

During the period under review, the Internal Auditors carried out the following activities:-

a) Presented and obtained approval from the Audit Committee the audit plan and scope of audit work;
b) Performed audits according to the audit plan, reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 

control system, compliance with policies and procedures and reported ineffective and inadequate controls 
and made recommendations to improve their effectiveness; and

c) Performed follow-up reviews in assessing the progress of the agreed management’s action plans and report to 
the management and Audit Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 
(Cont’d)
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTRODUCTION 

The Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 2012 requires listed companies to maintain a sound system of 
internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. 

Guided by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed 
Companies, the Board of Directors of Aemulus Holdings Berhad is pleased to present the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control which is prepared in accordance with Paragraph 15.26(b) of the ACE Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal control and for reviewing the 
adequacy and integrity of those systems. In view of the limitations that are inherent in any systems of internal control, 
the systems of internal control are designed to manage risk within tolerable levels rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives. Hence, such system by its nature can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement, error or losses. 

The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced, 
or potentially exposed to, by the Group in pursuing its business objectives. This process has been in place throughout 
the financial year and up to the date of approval of the annual report. The adequacy and effectiveness of this 
process have been continually reviewed by the Board and are in accordance with the Internal Control Guidance.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board practice proactive risks identification in the processes and activities of the Group, particularly in major 
proposed transactions, changes in nature of activities and/or operating environment, or venturing into new operating 
environment which may entail different risks, and assess the appropriate risk response strategies and controls. Day-to-
day risk management of operations are delegated to key management staff and head of departments to manage 
identified risks within defined parameters.

Periodic meetings attended by key management staff and head of departments and are held to discuss key 
operational issues, business performance matters and appropriate mitigating controls, when necessary.

INTERNAL AUDIT 

The Board acknowledges the importance of internal audit function and has outsourced its internal audit function 
to an independent professional accounting and consulting firm, BDO Governance Advisory Sdn. Bhd. as part of its 
efforts to provide adequate and effective internal control systems. The performance of internal audit function is 
carried out as per the annual audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. 

The internal audit adopts a risk-based approach in developing its audit plan which addresses all the core auditable 
areas of the Group based on their risk profile. The audit focuses on high risk area to ensure that an adequate action 
plan has in place to improve the controls in place. The audit ascertains that the risks are effectively mitigated by the 
controls. On a quarterly basis or earlier as appropriate, the internal auditors report to the Audit Committee on areas 
for improvement. The highlighted areas will be followed up closely to determine the extent of their recommendations 
that have been implemented by the management.

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Apart from risk management and internal audit, the Group has put in place the following key elements of internal 
control: 

• An organisation structure with well-defined scopes of responsibility, clear lines of accountability, and appropriate 
levels of delegated authority; 

• A process of hierarchical reporting which provides a documented and auditable trail of accountability; 
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OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)

• A set of documented internal policies and procedures which is subject to regular review and improvement; 
• Regular and comprehensive information provided to management, covering financial and operational 

performance and key business indicators, for effective monitoring and decision making; 
• Consistent monitoring of results against budget, with major variances being followed up and management 

action taken, where necessary; and 
• Close involvement in the daily operation by the senior management. 

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the 
external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. Their limited assurance 
review was performed in accordance with Recommended Practice guide (“RPG”) 5 (Revised) issued by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. RPG 5 does not require the external auditors to form an opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. 

CONCLUSION 

The Board has received assurance from the Group’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems have been operating adequately and effectively, in all 
material aspects, during the financial year under review and up to date of this statement. Taking this assurance into 
consideration, the Board is of the view that there were no significant weaknesses in the current system of internal 
control of the Group that may have material impact on the operations of the Group for the financial year ended 
30 September 2017. The Board and the management will continue to take necessary measures and ongoing 
commitment to strengthen and improve its risk management and internal control environment.

This statement is issued in accordance with a resolution passed in the Board of Directors meeting held on 20 
December 2017.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN 
RELATION TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This statement is prepared pursuant to the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the ACE 
Market.

The Directors are required to prepare audited financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs, including the cash flow and results, of the Group and the Company as at the end of each financial year.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors have considered the following:

• The Group and the Company have used appropriate accounting policies, and are consistently applied;
•  That reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates were made; and
•  That the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia have been applied.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and the Company, and which enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 2016.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps that are reasonably available to them to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and the Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution passed in the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on 20 
December 2017.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst that of the subsidiary are designing and assembling 
of automated test equipment and test and measurement instruments and the provision of their related services and 
design consultancy services.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

RESULTS

 GROUP COMPANY
RM RM

Profit/(Loss) after tax for the financial year 7,551,911 (52,178)

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.

The directors do not recommend any dividend payment for the financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year are disclosed in the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND DEBENTURE

During the financial year, the Company did not issue any share or debenture.

RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (“RSP”)

The RSP which had been approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held 
on 12 December 2014, was implemented on 13 July 2017. It forms part of the Company’s listing scheme during its 
Initial Public Offering on 15 September 2015 and is governed by the By-Laws of the RSP. The RSP will be in force for a 
maximum period of ten years from 15 February 2016 until 14 February 2026.

The salient features of the RSP are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

During the financial year, the Company granted 808,300 shares under the RSP to its eligible employees. The details 
of the shares granted under the RSP and its vesting conditions are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017



46 AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD
(Company No. 1114009-H)

DIRECTORS 

The directors who served since the date of the last report are as follows:

Ng Sang Beng 
Yeoh Chee Keong 
Kan Ky-Vern 
Wong Shee Kian 
Chok Kwee Bee 
Ong Chong Chee 
Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu
Ng Chin Wah (appointed on 13.1.17) 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial 
year in shares in the Company during the financial year are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares
Balance at 

1.10.16 Bought Sold
Balance at

30.9.17

The Company
Direct interest:
Ng Sang Beng 78,365,600 - (1,250,000) 77,115,600
Yeoh Chee Keong 51,174,900 - (875,000) 50,299,900
Wong Shee Kian 14,731,200 - (375,000) 14,356,200
Chok Kwee Bee 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu 5,519,800 - - 5,519,800
Ong Chong Chee 1,100,000 - - 1,100,000 
Ng Chin Wah 300,000* - - 300,000

* At date of appointment.

Deemed interest:
Ng Sang Beng (i) 39,288,700 - - 39,288,700
Yeoh Chee Keong (ii) 460,000 - - 460,000
Kan Ky-Vern (iii) 30,345,400 - - 30,345,400
Friiscor Ho Chii Ssu (ii) 60,000 - - 60,000
 

(i) Deemed interest pursuant to Section 8 and Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of shares 
held through Aemulus Venture Sdn. Bhd. and spouse.

(ii)  Other interest pursuant Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of shares held by spouse.

(iii)  Deemed interest pursuant to Section 8 and Section 59(11)(c) of the Companies Act 2016 by virtue of shares 
held through Beach Capital Sdn. Bhd. and spouse.

By virtue of his interest in the Company, Mr. Ng Sang Beng is also deemed interested in the shares of the 
subsidiary, to the extent that the Company has interest.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(Cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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DIRECTORS’ FEES AND BENEFITS

During the financial year, the fees and other benefits received and receivable by the directors of the Group and of 
the Company are as follows:

  GROUP COMPANY
RM RM

Fees 160,000 160,000
Salaries, allowance and bonus 907,154 33,000
Defined contribution plan 105,221 -
Other benefits* 3,750 -
Indemnity given to or insurance effected for any director - -

1,176,125 193,000

* Other benefits refer to benefits-in-kind (based on estimated monetary value) for the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to 
receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and 
receivable by the directors shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a 
related corporation with a director or with a firm of which the director is a member or with a company in which the 
director has a substantial financial interest, other than those related party transactions disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, with 
the objects of enabling directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable 
steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts, and 

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records 
in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to 
realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the 
Group and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, and

(ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company misleading, and

(iii) that would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading, 
and

(iv) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of 
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(Cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (Cont’d)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other persons, and

(ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the 
financial year. 

In the opinion of the directors:

(i) no contingent liability or other liability of the Group and of the Company has become enforceable, or is likely 
to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may 
affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due,

(ii) the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(iii) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations 
of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year in which this report is made.

There was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for the officers of the Group and of the Company.

AUDITORS

The total amount of fees paid to or receivable by the auditors, Grant Thornton, as remuneration for their services as 
auditors of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 30 September 2017 were RM49,000 and 
RM16,000 respectively.

There was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for the auditors of the Company.

The auditors, Grant Thornton, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Ng Sang Beng Ng Chin Wah

Penang,

Date: 20 December 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(Cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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In the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 55 to 103 are properly drawn up in 
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company as at 30 September 2017 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended.

In the opinion of the directors, the supplementary information set out on page 104 has been compiled in accordance 
with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context 
of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants, and presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Ng Sang Beng Ng Chin Wah

Date: 20 December 2017

STATUTORY DECLARATION
I, Ng Chin Wah, the director primarily responsible for the financial management of Aemulus Holdings Berhad, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 55 to 103 and the supplementary 
information set out on page 104 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 
Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by  )
the abovenamed at Penang, this 20th )
day of December 2017.  )

Ng Chin Wah

(I/C No.: 790430-07-5483)

Before me,

Commissioner for Oaths

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Aemulus Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 30 September 2017 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies, as set out on 
pages 55 to 103.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 30 September 2017, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE AND OTHER ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

(Note 6 to the financial statements)

As at 30 September 2017, the Group has goodwill 
amounting to RM13.66 million which has been allocated 
to its electronic tester segment as the cash-generating 
unit (CGU).

The management is required to perform annual 
impairment assessment for its goodwill. We focus on 
this area as management’s assessment of the ‘value 
in use’ of the CGU involves estimation uncertainty and 
judgements about the future results of the business and 
key assumptions applied to future cash flow projection.

Our audit procedures in relation to the goodwill 
impairment assessment included:

• Evaluating the model used in determining the value 
in use of the CGU as well as assessing the discount 
rate used.

• Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions 
based on our knowledge of the business and industry.

• Comparing actual performance of the CGU to 
assumptions applied in prior years model, to assess 
accuracy of management’s estimates.

• Performing sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions 
inputed to the model and understand the impact 
on the overall carrying value of goodwill with the 
alterations to the key assumptions.

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the financial 
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD  
Company No. 1114009-H (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of inventories

(Note 8 to the financial statements)

The Group holds significant inventories as at 30 
September 2017 which exposed the Group to a risk that 
the inventories may become slow moving or obsolete 
and eventually non-saleable or selling below their 
carrying value.

We focused on this area as it involves estimation 
uncertainty by the directors in determining the accuracy 
of provision for inventory obsolescence and in assessing 
the adequacy of inventory not stated at the lower of 
cost or market value.

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of 
inventories included:

• Obtaining an understanding of:
- the Group’s inventory management process;
- how the Group identifies and assesses inventory 

write-downs; and
- how the Group makes the accounting estimates 

for inventory write-downs.
• Reviewing the consistency of the application of 

management’s methodology in determining and 
estimating the provision from year to year.

• Reviewing and testing the net realisable value of 
inventories on sampling basis.

• Evaluating the reasonableness and adequacy of 
the inventories write-downs recognised for identified 
exposures.

Impairment of trade receivables

(Note 7 to the financial statements)

The Group has significant trade receivables as at 30 
September 2017 and it is subject to credit risk exposure. 
We focus on this area as the assessment of recoverability 
of receivables involved management judgements and 
estimation uncertainty in determining the probability of 
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor 
and default or significant delay in payments.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
impairment assessment included:

• Obtaining an understanding of:
- the Group’s control over the customers collection 

process;
- how the Group identifies and assesses the 

impairment of trade receivables; and
- how the Group makes the accounting estimates 

for impairment.
• Reviewing the consistency of the application of 

management’s methodology for calculating the 
impairment from year to year.

• Reviewing the aging analysis of trade receivables 
and testing the reliability thereof.

• Reviewing subsequent collections for major customers 
and overdue amounts.

• Making inquiries of management regarding the 
action plans to recover overdue balances.

• Examining other evidence including customer 
correspondences.

• Evaluating the adequacy of the impairment 
estimated and provided in the financial statements.

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report in relation to our audit of the 
financial statements of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
TO THE MEMBERS OF AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD  
Company No. 1114009-H (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITORS’ REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company and our auditors report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company so as to give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
TO THE MEMBERS OF AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD  
Company No. 1114009-H (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out on page 104 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised 
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
TO THE MEMBERS OF AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD  
Company No. 1114009-H (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
TO THE MEMBERS OF AEMULUS HOLDINGS BERHAD  
Company No. 1114009-H (Incorporated in Malaysia)

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for 
the content of this report.

Grant Thornton Tham Shien Hong
No. AF: 0042 No. 03266/04/2019 (J)         
Chartered Accountants      Chartered Accountant

Penang

Date: 20 December 2017
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GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

NOTE RM RM RM RM

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4  6,366,668  5,065,330  -  - 
Investment in a subsidiary 5  -  -  35,186,998  35,105,998 
Intangible assets 6  13,686,335  13,686,335  -  - 
Trade receivables 7  414,875  677,620  -  - 

 20,467,878  19,429,285  35,186,998  35,105,998 

Current assets
Inventories 8  17,597,350  10,958,308  -  - 
Trade receivables 7  14,487,808  10,929,881  -  - 
Other receivables, deposits 

and prepayments 9  6,013,121  656,740  9,374  1,000 

Amount due from a subsidiary 10  -  -  10,592,728  8,020,866 
Derivative financial assets 11  5,383  -  -  - 
Current tax assets  46,563  -  42,892  - 
Other investment 12  17,931,796  22,849,433  12,314,500  14,880,333 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 13  41,400  1,470,540  -  - 
Cash and bank balances 14  6,373,173  2,437,041  49,694  132,450 

 62,496,594  49,301,943  23,009,188  23,034,649 

TOTAL ASSETS  82,964,472  68,731,228  58,196,186  58,140,647 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 15  59,095,093  43,885,000  59,095,093  43,885,000 
Reserves 15 (12,890,855)  2,247,913  81,000  15,210,093 
Retained profits/(Accumulated losses)  26,885,457  19,333,546  (1,211,832)  (1,159,654)
Total equity  73,089,695  65,466,459  57,964,261  57,935,439 

Non-current liabilities
Term loan 16  2,247,513  -  -  - 

Current liabilities
Trade payables 17  4,135,667  1,629,611  -  - 
Other payables and accruals 18  2,550,185  1,435,110  231,925  199,354 
Provision for warranty 19  298,205  187,230  -  - 
Term loan 16  643,207  -  -  - 
Current tax liabilities  -  12,818  -  5,854 

 7,627,264  3,264,769  231,925  205,208 
Total liabilities  9,874,777  3,264,769  231,925  205,208 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  82,964,472  68,731,228  58,196,186  58,140,647 

The notes set out on pages 61 to 103 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

NOTE RM RM RM RM

Revenue 20  40,067,581  21,984,281  -  - 

Cost of sales (14,944,519)  (10,149,148)  -  - 

Gross profit  25,123,062  11,835,133 -  - 

Other income  1,038,156  1,460,216  457,567  658,971 

Administrative expenses (13,456,365)  (11,671,190)  (532,587)  (549,916)

Other expenses  -  (700,385)  -  - 

Research and development expenses  (5,118,768)  (3,570,781)  -  - 

Profit/(Loss) from operations  7,586,085  (2,647,007)  (75,020)  109,055 

Finance costs  (34,492)  (7,253)  -  - 

Profit/(Loss) before tax 21  7,551,593  (2,654,260)  (75,020)  109,055 

Tax income/(expense) 23  318  (80,759)  22,842  (67,429)

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year  7,551,911  (2,735,019)  (52,178)  41,626 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Items that will be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences 

for foreign operation  (9,675)  (8,127)  -  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the financial year  7,542,236  (2,743,146)  (52,178)  41,626 

Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable 
to the owners of the Company (sen)
- Basic/Diluted 24  1.72  (0.62)

  
       

 
The notes set out on pages 61 to 103 form an integral part of these financial statements.   

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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Non-distributable 

Share
Capital

Share
Premium

RSP
Reserve

Accumulated 
Losses

Total
Equity

NOTE RM RM RM RM RM

2017

Balance at beginning  43,885,000  15,210,093  -  (1,159,654)  57,935,439 

Total comprehensive loss 
for the financial year  -  -  -  (52,178)  (52,178)

Transaction with owner:
Recognition of equity-

settled share-based 
payment 15  -  -  81,000  -  81,000 

Transition to no-par 
value regime on 
31 January 2017 15  15,210,093  (15,210,093)  -  -  - 

Balance at end  59,095,093  -  81,000  (1,211,832)  57,964,261 

2016

Balance at beginning  43,885,000  15,210,093  -  (1,201,280)  57,893,813 

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year  -  -  -  41,626  41,626 

Balance at end  43,885,000  15,210,093  -  (1,159,654)  57,935,439 
          

The notes set out on pages 61 to 103 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(Loss) before tax  7,551,593  (2,654,260)  (75,020)  109,055 
Adjustments for:

Allowance for obsolete inventories  17,334  1,589,327  -  - 
Depreciation  967,782  795,532  -  - 
Dividend income ( 589,813) ( 482,853) ( 457,567) ( 360,357)
Equity-settled share-based payment 81,000 - - -
Fair value gain on derivative financial 
assets ( 5,383) - - -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment ( 15,030)  -  -  -
Interest expense 34,492 7,253 - -
Interest income ( 32,858) ( 393,493) -  ( 298,614)
Listing expenses -  45,764 - 45,764
Property, plant and equipment written off - 1,489 - -
Provision for warranty 110,975  ( 74,170)  -  -
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign 
exchange 25,008 (507,567)  - -

Operating profit/(loss) before 
working capital changes  8,145,100  (1,672,978)  (532,587)  (504,152)

Increase in inventories  (6,656,376)  (917,711)  -  - 
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables  (8,903,337)  (1,512,642)  (8,374)  4,300 
Increase/(Decrease) in payables  3,685,597  (4,324,901)  32,571  (377,063)

Cash used in operations  (3,729,016)  (8,428,232)  (508,390)  (876,915)
Income tax paid  (86,579)  (101,280)  (42,496)  (68,750)
Income tax refunded  27,534  -  16,592  - 
Interest paid  (34,492)  (7,253)  -  - 

Net cash used in operating activities (3,822,571) (8,539,765) (534,727) (945,665)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Advance to)/Repayment from a subsidiary  - - ( 2,571,862) 15,345,239
Dividend received 589,813 482,853 457,567 360,357
Interest received 32,858  393,493  -  298,614
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 49,110 -  -  -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  ( 2,304,106)  ( 1,529,848) - -
Withdrawal/(Placement) of fixed deposits  1,429,140 (36,314) - -
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (203,185)  (689,816)  (2,114,295) 16,004,210

Balance carried forward (4,025,756) (9,226,581)  (2,648,589)  15,058,545

The notes set out on pages 61 to 103 form an integral part of these financial statements.   

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Balance brought forward (4,025,756)  (9,226,581) (2,648,589) 15,058,545

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of finance lease - (100) - -
Payment of listing expenses  -  (45,764) - (45,764)
Proceeds from government grant 131,384 1,056,160 -  -
Proceeds from term loan 2,978,988  -  - -
Repayment of term loan (88,268)  (132,881) -  -
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  3,022,104 877,415  - (45,764)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,003,652)  (8,349,166) (2,648,589) 15,012,781

Effects of changes in exchange rates 
on cash and cash equivalents   22,147  130,054  -  - 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING  25,286,474  33,505,586  15,012,783  2 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END  24,304,969  25,286,474  12,364,194  15,012,783 

Represented by: 
Other investment  17,931,796  22,849,433  12,314,500  14,880,333 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks  41,400  1,470,540  -  - 
Cash and bank balances  6,373,173  2,437,041  49,694  132,450 

 24,346,369  26,757,014  12,364,194  15,012,783 
Less: Fixed deposits pledged 

to licensed banks  (41,400)  (1,470,540) -  - 

 24,304,969  25,286,474 12,364,194  15,012,783 

The notes set out on pages 61 to 103 form an integral part of these financial statements.   

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the 
ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The registered office of the Company is located at 51-13-A, Menara BHL Bank, Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah, 10050 
Penang.

The principal place of business of the Company is located at One Precinct, 1C-06-02, Lengkok Mayang Pasir, 
11950 Bayan Baru, Penang.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors on 15 December 2017.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst that of the subsidiary are designing and 
assembling of automated test equipment and test and measurement instruments and the provision of their 
related services and design consultancy services.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of Compliance

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

2.2 Basis of Measurement

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared under the historical cost 
convention unless otherwise indicated in the summary of accounting policies below.
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the 
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by 
the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

2.2 Basis of Measurement (Cont’d)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to their fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value 

measurement is unobservable.

2.3  Functional and Presentation Currency

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. 

2.4 Adoption of New and Amendments/Improvements to MFRS

The accounting policies adopted by the Group and by the Company are consistent with those of the 
previous financial years except for the adoption of the following standards that are mandatory for the 
current financial year:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 128 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
Amendments to MFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
Amendments to MFRS 101 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 

and Amortisation
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
Amendments to MFRS 127 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Annual Improvements to MFRS 2012–2014 Cycle

Initial application of the above standards did not have any material impact to the financial statements 
of the Group and of the Company.
 

2.5 Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

The Group and the Company have not applied the following standards that have been issued by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but are not yet effective for the Group and for the 
Company:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
Amendments to MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (under Annual Improvements to 

MFRS 2014-2016 Cycle)
Amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiatives
Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014)
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Amendments to MFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts: Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 

Insurance Contracts
Amendments to MFRS 7 Mandatory Date of MFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures
Amendments to MFRS 140 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

2.5 Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle (except for Amendments to MFRS 12 Disclosure 

of Interests in Other Entities)
IC Interpretation (“IC Int”) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
MFRS 16 Leases
IC Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Effective date yet to be confirmed
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture

The existing MFRS 4 and Amendments to MFRS 4 will be withdrawn upon the adoption of the new MFRS 17 
which will take effect on or after 1 January 2021.

The initial application of the above standards is not expected to have any material impacts to the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company upon adoption except as mentioned below:

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

MFRS 9 replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous 
version of MFRS 9. This new standard introduces extensive requirements and guidance for classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities which fall under the scope of MFRS 9, new 
“expected credit loss model” under the impairment of financial assets and greater flexibility has been 
allowed in hedge accounting transactions. Upon adoption of MFRS 9, financial assets will be measured 
at either fair value or amortised cost. It is also expected that the Group’s investment in unquoted shares, 
if any, will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The adoption of MFRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy, but it is anticipated that the adoption 
will not have any material impact to the financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 15 replaces the guidance in MFRS 111 Construction Contracts, MFRS 118 Revenue, IC Int 13 Customer 
Loyalty Programmes, IC Int 15 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, IC Int 18 Transfers of Assets from 
Customers and IC Int 131 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. Upon adoption of 
MFRS 15, it is expected that the timing of revenue recognition might be different as compared with the 
current practices.

The adoption of MFRS 15 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group and the Company are 
currently assessing the financial impact of adopting MFRS 15.

MFRS 16 Leases

The scope of MFRS 16 includes leases of all assets, with certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a contract, 
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

2.5 Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (Cont’d)

Effective date yet to be confirmed (Cont’d)

MFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

MFRS 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model in a similar way 
to finance leases under MFRS 117. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases 
of ‘low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease 
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during 
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset).

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.  Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability 
upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessees 
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under MFRS 117. Lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in MFRS 117 and distinguish between 
two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the financial impact of 
adopting MFRS 16.

Amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiatives

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financial activities, including changes from cash flows and 
non-cash changes. The disclosure requirement could be satisfied in various ways, and one method is by 
providing reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position 
for liabilities arising from financing activities.

On initial application of the amendments, entities are not required to provide comparative information for 
preceding periods. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017, with early application permitted. Application of amendments will result in additional disclosure to 
be provided by the Group.

2.6  Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

2.6.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

There are no significant areas of critical judgement in applying accounting policies that have any 
significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.

2.6.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

2.6  Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Cont’d)

2.6.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(i) Useful lives of depreciable assets
 

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of the plant and equipment to be 5 to 10 years. 
Changes in the expected technological developments could impact the economic useful 
lives and residual values of the property, plant and equipment. Therefore future depreciation 
charges could be revised.

(ii)  Impairment of intangible assets

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires 
an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is 
allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires management to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details of 
the carrying value, the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of goodwill 
and sensitivity analysis to changes in assumptions are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial 
statements. 

(iii) Inventories

The Group reviews for slow-moving and obsolete inventories. This review requires management 
to estimate the potentially excess and obsolete inventories after considering forecasted 
demand for the products as well as technical obsolescence. Possible changes in these 
estimates could result in revision to the valuation of inventories.

(iv) Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence 
of impairment, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash 
flows are estimated based on historical loss experience of assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics.

(v) Provision for warranty

The Group provides warranty for manufacturing defects of its products sold. The Group’s 
normal product warranty period is one year. The provision for product warranty is calculated 
at approximately 2.5% of the cost of products sold.  

As the Group’s products are constantly upgraded for technology developments, the level 
of manufacturing defects for the upgraded and/or new products may not necessary reflect 
past trends and in such circumstances, the original basis used to calculate the amounts for 
product warranty claim may need to be revised when it is appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies adopted by the Group and by the Company are consistent with those 
adopted in the previous financial years unless otherwise indicated below.

3.1 Basis of Consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential 
voting rights are considered when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. The Group 
also considers it has de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of 
voting rights, it has the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect 
the investee’s return.

Investment in subsidiary is measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less 
any impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of 
investments includes transaction costs.

Upon disposal of investment in a subsidiary, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, plus
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest 

in the acquiree, less
• the net recognised amount at fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised in profit or loss.

For each business combination, the Group elects whether to recognise non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree either at fair value, or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets at the acquisition date.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

(iii) Combination through merger

The acquisition of Aemulus Corporation Sdn. Bhd. is accounted for using the merger accounting 
principle. Accordingly, the results of the subsidiary are presented as if the merger had been 
effected throughout the years under review. The assets and liabilities combined are accounted 
for based on the carrying amounts from the perspective of the common control shareholder at 
the date of merger. On consolidation, the cost of the merger is cancelled with the values of the 
shares received. Any resulting debit difference is adjusted against any suitable reserve. Any other 
reserves which are attributable to share capital of the merged entities, to the extent that they 
have not been capitalised by a debit difference, are reclassified and presented as movement in 
other capital reserves.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017



67SUSTAINABLE RAPID EVOLUTION
Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.1 Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

(iv) Loss of control

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former 
subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss 
of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then 
such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for 
as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for sale financial asset depending on the level of 
influence retained.

(v)  Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.
  
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the 
assets to their residual value over their estimated useful lives, at the following annual rates:
  

Freehold commercial lot 2%
Office and testing equipment 10% - 20%
Furniture and fittings 10%
Renovation 10%
Motor vehicles 10%

Depreciation on capital expenditure in progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended 
use.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates 
and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of 
property, plant and equipment.

Upon the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 
proceed and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

3.3 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specific in an arrangement. 

Finance lease 

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, which 
include hire purchase arrangement, are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased 
asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.3 Leases (Cont’d)

Finance lease (Cont’d)

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the profit or loss. Contingent lease 
payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the 
lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Operating lease   

Leases, where the Group does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating lease, the leased 
assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest held under an 
operating lease, which is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, is classified as 
investment property.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the 
reporting period in which they are incurred.

3.4 Intangible Assets

3.4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess 
of the cost of business acquired over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Gains 
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold.

3.4.2 Trademarks and Patents

 Trademarks and patents are intangible assets with indefinite useful life and are tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently if the events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or at cash-generating unit level. 
Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is 
reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

3.5 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories) are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated 
each period at the same time. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.5 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (Cont’d)

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or cash-generating units (“CGU”). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose 
of impairment testing, is allocated to a CGU or a group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset of CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or its related CGU 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the CGU (groups of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year 
in which the reversals are recognised.

3.6 Financial Instruments

3.6.1 Initial recognition and measurement

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 

A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transactions costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial instrument. 

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for 
as a derivative if, and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of 
the host contract and the host contract is not categorised at fair value through profit or loss. The 
host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in 
accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.

 
3.6.2 Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

  
The Group and the Company categorise financial instruments as follows:

Financial assets

(a) Loans and receivables
 

Loans and receivables category comprises debt instruments that are not quoted in an active 
market.

Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.6 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

3.6.2 Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

(a) Loans and receivables (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates 
later than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale category comprises investment in equity and debt securities instruments.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and 
losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method 
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using the 
effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale 
equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s and the Company’s right 
to receive payment is established.

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured 
at cost less impairment loss.

All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to 
review for impairment.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised 
as fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities, except for those having maturity dates later 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current.

3.6.3 Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency contracts 
to manage its exposure to foreign currency risks. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered and 
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a 
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current 
asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months 
and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented 
as current assets or current liabilities. 

The Group has not designated any derivatives as hedging instruments.

3.6.4 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.6 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

3.6.5 Derecognition

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised, when and only when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party 
without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. On derecognition of a 
financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in the profit or loss.

A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

3.7 Impairment of Financial Assets

All financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss and investment 
in a subsidiary) are assessed at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset. Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. For an 
investment in an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost is an 
objective evidence of impairment.

An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments is recognised 
in profit or loss and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

An impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale financial assets is recognised in profit or loss and is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment 
and amortisation) and the asset’s current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised. 
Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income, the cumulative loss in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in profit 
or loss and is measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as 
available-for-sale is not reversed through profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss 
is reversed, to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

3.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost of raw materials is determined on the weighted average basis. 

Cost of finished goods includes direct materials and direct labour. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.8 Inventories (Cont’d)

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

3.9 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand, cash at bank and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term and 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value, against which bank overdraft balances, if any, are deducted.

3.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be 
made. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as 
finance cost expense.

A provision for warranty is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision 
is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated 
probabilities.

3.11 Borrowings Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. 
Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale.
 
Other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

3.12 Research and Development Expenditure

All general research and development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the 
expenditure is incurred.

3.13 Government Grants

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at their fair values when there is reasonable 
assurance that the conditions attaching to them will be complied with and the grants will be received.

Grants are recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs which they are intended to compensate. Grants related to asset are presented by 
deducting the grants to the carrying amount of the asset.

3.14 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and when the revenue can be measured reliably on the following bases:
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3.14 Revenue Recognition (Cont’d)

Sale of goods

(a) Outright sale

Revenue is recognised when the significant risk and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer.

(b) Finance lease arrangement

Revenue is recognised at the commencement of the lease term based on the lower of the fair value 
of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments, computed at a market rate of 
interest. The finance income associated with the finance lease is recognised over the lease term.

Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the end of the reporting period with the remaining unearned portion being recognised 
as deferred income. Stage of completion is measured by reference to services performed to date as a 
percentage of total services to be performed.

3.15 Employee Benefits

Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the group. Short term accumulating 
compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered 
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-
accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

Defined contribution plans

As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the national pension scheme, the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as 
incurred. The subsidiary’s foreign branch also make contributions to their country’s statutory pension 
schemes. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay contributions in addition to its fixed 
contributions which are recognised as an expense in the period that relevant employee services are 
received.

Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”)

Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of shares of the Company as consideration for 
services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference 
to the fair value of the shares at the date on which the shares are granted by the Company. This cost is 
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the equity as RSP reserve over the vesting 
period. The cumulative expense recognised at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of the 
number of shares that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for shares that do not ultimately vest, except for shares where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether 
or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service 
conditions are satisfied. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)

- 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the end of the reporting period with the remaining unearned portion being 
recognised as deferred income. Stage of completion is measured by reference to services 
performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.
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3.16 Income Tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in 
equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the financial year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. 

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.

3.17 Goods and Services Tax

Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) is a consumption tax based on the value-added concept. GST is imposed 
on goods and services at every production and distribution stage in the supply chain including importation 
of goods and services, at the applicable tax rate of 6% in Malaysia and 5% in Taiwan. Input tax that a 
company pays on business purchases is offset against output tax. 
 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except:

- where the GST incurred in a purchase of asset or service is not recoverable from the authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense item as applicable; and

- receivables and payables that are stated with GST inclusive.
 

The net GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statements of financial position.

3.18 Foreign Currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group 
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are 
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a foreign currency at the end of the 
reporting period are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction except for those measured at fair value shall be translated at the exchange rate at the date 
when the fair value was determined.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.18 Foreign Currency (Cont’d)

Foreign currency transactions (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation 
of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included 
in profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in 
respect of which gains or losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Foreign operations

The incorporation of the financial statements of the subsidiary’s foreign branch are translated into RM at 
the approximate rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period for assets and liabilities and 
at the approximate average rate of exchange ruling on transaction dates for income and expenses. 
Exchange differences due to such currency translations are taken directly to exchange translation reserve.

3.19 Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any 
of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by 
the chief operating decision maker, who in this case are the Executive Directors of the Group, to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which 
discrete financial information is available.

3.20 Share Capital, Share Issuance Expenses and Dividends

Classification

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Other shares are classified as equity and/or liability according to 
the economic substance of the particular instrument.

Share issuance costs

Prior to Companies Act 2016 which came into operation on 31 January 2017, incremental external costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are deducted against the share premium account. 
Effective on 31 January 2017 and subsequent period, incremental external costs directly attributable to 
the issuance of new shares are deducted against equity.

Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are accounted for in shareholder’s equity as an appropriation of retained 
profits and recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

3.21 Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. A related party transaction is a transfer of 
resources, services or obligations between the Group and its related party, regardless of whether a price 
is charged.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
(i) Has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) Has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group. 

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group.
(ii) The entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity.
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) The entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefits of employees of either the Group 

or an entity related to the Group.
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person identified in (a) above.
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) above has significant influence over the Group or is a member of 

the key management personnel of the entity.
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group when it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5. INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY

COMPANY
2017 2016

RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost  35,105,998 35,105,998
RSP shares granted to employees of subsidiary 81,000 -

35,186,998 35,105,998

The details of the Malaysian subsidiary are as follows:

Name of Subsidiary Effective Equity 
Interest

Principal Activities

2017 2016

Aemulus Corporation
Sdn. Bhd. (“ACSB”)

100%   100% Designing and assembling of automated test equipment and 
test and measurement instruments and the provision of their 
related services and design consultancy services.

ACSB’s branch office in Taiwan is principally involved in the marketing and sale of automated test equipment 
and test and measurement instruments.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the merger accounting method to 
account for the acquisition of ACSB. Merger deficit is determined as the difference between the cost 
of merger and nominal value of the share capital in the subsidiary acquired and is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

At cost:
Goodwill 13,663,357 13,663,357
Trademark, patent and industry design 22,978 22,978

13,686,335 13,686,335

The goodwill arising from the business acquisition and other intangible assets have been allocated to the 
Group’s electronic tester segment as the cash-generating unit (“CGU”).

 For annual impairment testing purposes, the recoverable amount of the CGU are determined based on their 
value-in-use, which apply a discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections based on approved 
financial budget and projections covering a five (5)-year period.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations 

The key assumptions on which the management has based on for the computation of value-in-use are as 
follows:

(i)  Cash flow projections and growth rate

The 5-year cash flow projections are prepared based on management’s past experience. The revenue 
for the first year of the 5-year cash flow projections is prepared based on the most recent approved 
financial budget by the Board of Directors. Thereafter, a 10% (2016: 10%) annual growth rate is applied 
to the remaining years of the cash flow projections. A terminal value is assigned at the end of the 5-year 
cash flow projections based on an assumed growth rate of 1% (2016: 1%) in perpetuity. The growth rate 
of 1% (2016: 1%) is in line with information obtained from external sources.

(ii)  Discount rate

A pre-tax discount rate of 10.10% (2016: 5.90%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of 
the CGU. The discount rate was estimated based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, 
which takes into consideration both the cost of debt and cost of equity.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions
 

With regards to the assessments of value-in-use of these CGU, management believes that no reasonably 
possible changes in any of the key assumptions would cause the carrying values of these units to differ 
materially from their recoverable amounts except for the changes in prevailing operating environment which 
is not ascertainable.

7. TRADE RECEIVABLES

GROUP
2017 2016

NOTE RM RM

Finance lease arrangement               7.2 1,462,665 788,746
Outright sale                              7.3     13,440,018 10,818,755

14,902,683 11,607,501

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)
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7. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

7.1 The trade receivables can be analysed as:

2017 2016
RM RM

Total amount receivable                                            14,988,485 11,698,470
Unearned interest income (85,802) (90,969)

14,902,683 11,607,501
Less: Receivables within 1 year under current assets (14,487,808) (10,929,881)

Receivables more than 1 year 414,875 677,620

7.2 The repayment schedule of the present value of receivables under finance lease arrangement is as 
follows:

 
2017 2016

RM RM

Within 1 year 1,047,790 111,126
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 414,875 677,620

1,462,665 788,746

7.3 The outright sale customers are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days (2016: 30 to 90 
days) credit terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values 
on initial recognition. 

7.4 The currency profile of trade receivables is as follows:
  

2017 2016
RM RM

Ringgit Malaysia 3,892,189 2,049,881
US Dollar 11,010,494 9,537,538
Singapore Dollar - 20,082

14,902,683 11,607,501

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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8.  INVENTORIES 

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Raw materials 9,795,223 4,328,876
Finished goods 7,802,127 6,629,432

17,597,350 10,958,308

Recognised in profit or loss:
Allowance for obsolete inventories 17,334 1,589,327
Inventories recognised as cost of sales 14,927,185 8,559,821

9. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Other receivables 9,431 28,325 9,374 1,000
Deposits - Refundable 3,200,136 188,507 - - 

- Non-refundable 1,986,005 - - -
Prepayments 699,541 295,588 - -
Government grant - 131,384 - -
GST claimable 118,008 12,936 - -

6,013,121 656,740 9,374 1,000
 
Included in the Group’s deposits is an amount of RM4,965,033 (2016: RM Nil) being paid to Penang Development 
Corporation (“PDC”) as down payment for the purchase of a leasehold land, of which RM1,986,005 is non-
refundable. As at the end of the reporting period, the title deed has yet to be transferred by PDC, therefore, it 
is being presented as part of deposits.

The currency profile of other receivables, deposits and prepayments is as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Ringgit Malaysia 5,992,647 643,596 9,374 1,000
New Taiwan Dollar 20,474 13,144 - -

6,013,121 656,740 9,374 1,000
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due from a subsidiary is non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing and is repayable on 
demand.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Derivatives held for trading at fair value through profit or loss was as follows:
 

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Forward exchange contracts:
- Nominal value 1,706,594 -
- Assets 5,383 -

Forward exchange contracts were used to manage the foreign currency exposure arising from a subsidiary’s 
trade receivables denominated in US Dollar. The forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one 
year after the end of the reporting period.

12. OTHER INVESTMENT

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Unit trusts, at fair value 17,931,796  22,849,433 12,314,500 14,880,333

Market value  17,938,971  22,849,433 12,312,539 14,880,333

The unit trusts are funds that invest in a mixture of money market instruments and fixed deposits with different 
maturity profile. The unit trusts can be redeemed at any point in time upon request.

13. FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

The fixed deposits are pledged to licensed banks as security for banking facilities granted to the Group.

The effective interest rates of fixed deposits at the end of the reporting period is 3.00% (2016: 2.70% to 3.43%) 
per annum.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont’d)
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14. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

The currency profile of cash and bank balances is as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Ringgit Malaysia 2,295,119 871,278 49,694 132,450
US Dollar 4,012,165 1,344,118 - -
Singapore Dollar 26,687 182,193 - -
New Taiwan Dollar 39,202 39,452 - -

6,373,173 2,437,041 49,694 132,450
 

15.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES

15.1 Share capital
 

Number of ordinary shares Amount
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM

Issued and fully paid:
Balance at beginning 438,850,000 438,850,000 43,885,000 43,885,000
Transition to no-par value 

regime on 31 January 2017 - - 15,210,093 -

Balance at end 438,850,000 438,850,000 59,095,093 43,885,000
 
 The new Companies Act 2016 (the “Act”), which came into operation on 31 January 2017, abolished 
the concept of authorised share capital and par value of share capital. Consequently, the amount 
standing to the credit of the share premium becomes part of the Company’s share capital pursuant to 
the transitional provisions set out in Section 618(2) of the Act. Notwithstanding this provision, the Company 
may within 24 months from the commencement of the Act, use the amount standing to the credit of its 
share premium account of RM15,210,093 for purposes as set out in Section 618(3) of the Act. There is no 
impact on the number of ordinary shares in issue or the relative entitlement of any of the members as a 
result of this transition.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont’d)

15.2 Reserves

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

Note RM RM RM RM

Non-distributable:
Share premium 15.2.1 - 15,210,093 - 15,210,093
Merger deficit 15.2.2 (12,954,053) (12,954,053) - -
RSP reserve 15.2.3 81,000 - - -
Exchange translation 

reserve             15.2.4 (17,802) (8,127) - -

(12,890,855) 2,247,913 - 15,210,093
 

15.2.1 Share premium

         GROUP AND COMPANY
2017 2016

RM RM

Balance at beginning 15,210,093 15,210,093
Transition to no-par value regime
on 31 January 2017 (15,210,093) -

Balance at end - 15,210,093

Share premium comprises the premium paid on subscription of shares in the Company over and 
above the par value of the shares. It was transferred to share capital in accordance with Section 
618(2) of the Companies Act 2016 to no-par value regime on 31 January 2017. 

15.2.2 Merger deficit

The merger deficit is in respect of the difference between the cost of merger and the nominal 
value of shares acquired in ACSB.

15.2.3 RSP reserve

RSP reserve represents the equity-settled shares granted by the Company to ACSB’s employees. 
The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded 
over the vesting period commencing from the grant date of equity-settled share awards, and is 
reduced once vested or forfeited. The details of RSP are further disclosed in Note 31 to the financial 
statements.

15.2.4 Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve is in respect of foreign exchange differences on translation of 
the financial statements of the subsidiary’s foreign branch.
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16. TERM LOAN

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Non-current liabilities 2,247,513 -

Current liabilities 643,207 -

The term loan is secured by way of:
(i) legal charge over the leasehold land (Note 9); and
(ii) corporate guarantee of the Company.

A summary of the effective interest rate and the maturities of the term loan is as follows:

Average 
effective interest 
rate per annum Total

Within 
1 year

More than 
1 year and less 

than 2 years

More than 
2 years and less 

than 5 years
(%) RM RM RM RM

2017
Term loan 4.38 2,890,720 643,207 615,593 1,631,920

17. TRADE PAYABLES

The currency profile of trade payables is as follows:

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Ringgit Malaysia 1,603,383 412,065
US Dollar 2,481,083 1,217,546
Singapore Dollar 51,201 -

4,135,667 1,629,611

The trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 to 90 days (2016: 30 to 90 days) 
credit terms.
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18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Other payables 351,623 339,377 158,581 126,554
Accruals 2,080,460 976,855 73,344 72,800
Deferred income                     118,102 118,878 - -

2,550,185 1,435,110 231,925 199,354

The currency profile of other payables and accruals is as follows:
 

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Ringgit Malaysia 2,498,912 1,370,726 231,925 199,354
New Taiwan Dollar 51,273 64,384 - -

2,550,185 1,435,110 231,925 199,354
 

19. PROVISION FOR WARRANTY

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Balance at beginning 187,230 261,400
Additions 324,873 213,898
Reversal (213,898) (288,068)

Balance at end 298,205 187,230

The provision for warranty is in respect of warranty granted on products sold. The provision is calculated based 
on approximately 2.5% of the cost of products sold.

20. REVENUE

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Sale of goods - Outright sale 36,364,541 19,460,453
 - Finance lease arrangement 1,318,818 788,746

Services rendered 2,384,222 1,735,082

40,067,581 21,984,281
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21. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

This is arrived at: 

GROUP COMPANY
2017  2016  2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

After charging:

Allowance for obsolete inventories 17,334 1,589,327 - -
Auditors’ remuneration
- Company’s auditors

- statutory audit
- current year 49,000 42,000 16,000 14,000
- under provision in prior year - 12,000 - -

- other services 20,000 19,045 15,000 13,000
- Other auditors: 

- other services 40,000 66,069 40,000 40,000
Depreciation 967,782 795,553 - -
Interest expense on:
- Bank overdraft 255 3,008 - -
- Bankers acceptance 7,748 - - -
- Finance lease - 3 - -
- Term loan 26,489 4,242 - -
Property, plant and equipment 

written off                      - 1,489           - -
Provision for warranty 110,975 (74,170) - -
Realised loss on foreign exchange - 700,385 - -
Rental of equipment
- Current year 9,157 5,318 - -
- Over provision in prior year - (7,042) - -
Rental of office equipment 3,600 1,800 - -
Rental of premises 783,645 687,785 - -
Research and development 

expenditure * 5,118,768 3,570,781 - -
Unrealised loss on foreign exchange 25,008 - - -

And crediting:

Dividend income from other investment  589,813 482,853  457,567 360,357
Fair value gain on derivative 

financial instruments 5,383 - - -
Gain on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment  15,030 - - -
Interest income 32,858 393,493 - 298,614
Realised gain on foreign exchange 278,980 - - -
Rental income 23,940 22,800 - -
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange - 507,567 - -
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21. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

*  Research and development expenditure
- Staff costs (Note 22)                                                          4,640,549 3,551,359
- Raw materials                                                    55,566 19,422
- Technical fee    422,653 -

5,118,768  3,570,781

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

- Salaries, allowance and bonus 10,336,398  8,111,159 33,000  -
- Fees 160,000  162,060  160,000 160,000
- Defined contribution plan 1,064,279  978,147  -  -
- SOCSO 136,697 85,555 -  -
- Equity-settled share-based payment 81,000  - - -

11,778,374  9,336,921  193,000 160,000
Less: Charge to research and 

development expenditure (Note 21)  (4,640,549) (3,551,359)  -  -

7,137,825 5,785,562  193,000 160,000
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Cont’d)

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Executive:
- Salaries, allowance and bonus 870,757  793,346  - -
- Defined contribution plan 105,221  95,865  - -
- SOCSO 3,397  1,487  -  -

979,375 890,698  - -
- Benefits-in-kind* 3,750  -  -  -

983,125 890,698  - -
Non-executive:
- Salaries, allowance and bonus 33,000 -  33,000 -
- Fees 160,000 162,060 160,000  160,000
- Defined contribution plan -  -  - -
- SOCSO -  -  -  -

193,000 162,060  193,000  160,000

1,176,125 1,052,758  193,000 160,000

* Benefits-in-kind (based on estimated monetary value) for the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

23. TAX INCOME/(EXPENSE)

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Current tax:
Based on results for the financial year
- Malaysian income tax  (14,806)  (113,216)  - (74,604)
- Foreign tax (13,453)  -  - -

(28,259)  (113,216)  - (74,604)
Over provision of current tax in prior year 28,577 32,457  22,482 7,175

318 (80,759)  22,482  (67,429)
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23. TAX INCOME/(EXPENSE) (Cont’d)

The reconciliation of tax income/(expense) of the Group and of the Company is as follows: 

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Profit/(Loss) before tax 7,551,593 (2,654,260) (75,020) 109,055

Income tax at Malaysian statutory 
tax rate of 24% (1,812,382) 637,023 18,005 (26,173)

Different tax rate in other 
jurisdiction* 4,751 4,188 - -

Expenses not deductible 
for tax purposes (291,558) (609,432) (127,821) (134,917)

Income not subject to tax 141,905 115,885 109,816 86,486
Pioneer income not subject to tax 1,785,745 - - -
Net deferred tax movement 

not recognised 143,280 (260,880) - -
(28,259) (113,216) - (74,604)

Over provision in prior year 28,577 32,457 22,482 7,175

318 (80,759) 22,482 (67,429)
 
*The subsidiary’s Taiwan branch is subject to corporate tax rate of 17%.

The deferred tax movement not recognised is in respect of the following taxable/(deductible) temporary 
differences:

GROUP
2017 2016

RM RM

Property, plant and equipment 1,647,000 1,322,000
Unabsorbed capital allowance - (916,000)
Unutilised tax losses                                           (2,418,000) (2,418,000)
Others (323,000) 321,000

(1,094,000) (1,691,000)

The subsidiary of the Group had obtained the Multimedia Super Corridor status with pioneer status tax 
incentive. Under this tax incentive, 100% of the statutory income derived from the design and assembly 
of automated test equipment and test and measurement instruments and the provision of related design 
consultancy services, will be exempted from income tax up to 7 September 2018.
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE

GROUP

24.1 Basic earnings/(loss) per share

 Basic earnings/(loss) per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to 
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial 
year as follows:

2017 2016

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company (RM) 7,551,911  (2,735,019)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 438,850,000 438,850,000

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (sen)                      1.72 (0.62)

24.2 Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the financial year adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares arising 
from shares granted to employees as follows:

2017  2016

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company (RM) 7,551,911 (2,735,019)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 438,850,000 438,850,000
Adjustment for dilutive effect of RSP  633,352  -

439,483,352  438,850,000

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (sen) 1.72  (0.62)

25. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

Business Segments

The management determines the business segments based on the reports reviewed and used by the directors 
for strategic decisions making and resources allocation.

The Group has only one reportable business segment, i.e. electronic tester segment which is involved in the 
designing and assembling of automated test equipment and test and measurement instruments and the 
provision of their related and design consultancy services. As such, no operating segment information is 
prepared. 
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25. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont’d)

Geographical Information

 Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows:

Revenue Non-current assets
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Malaysia  11,267,320 7,273,274     19,944,806 18,751,665
Singapore 15,399,075 2,661,482 -                      -
China 8,760,559 7,300,374 -                      -
United States of America 4,054,626 4,230,810 - -
Taiwan - - 108,197 -
Other countries 586,001 518,341 -  -

   40,067,581 21,984,281    20,053,003 18,751,665

 Non-current assets information presented above, which excludes financial assets, consists of the following 
items as presented in the Group’s statement of financial position.

2017 2016
RM RM

Property, plant and equipment 6,366,668 5,065,330
Intangible assets 13,686,335 13,686,335

20,053,003 18,751,665

Information about major customers

Total revenue from 3 (2016: 3) major customers which individually contributed more than 10% of the Group’s 
revenue amounted to RM24,243,348 (2016: RM13,592,807).

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

There were no related party transactions during the financial year under review other than compensation to 
key management personnel.

Key management personnel are those persons including directors having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group and of the Company, directly or indirectly. 
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26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

The remuneration of the directors and other members of key management during the financial year is as 
follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Short-term employee benefit 2,496,754 2,062,462 193,000 160,000
Defined contribution plan 246,610 228,373 - -

2,743,364 2,290,835 193,000 160,000

Analysed as:
-Directors 1,176,125 1,052,758 193,000 160,000
-Other key management personnel 1,567,239 1,238,077 - -

2,743,364 2,290,835 193,000 160,000

27. GOVERNMENT GRANT

The subsidiary of the Group has been granted approval by the Malaysian Investment Development Authority 
(“MIDA”), vide MIDA’s letter dated 6 June 2013 to receive the following grants under the Domestic Investment 
Strategic Fund pertaining to the subsidiary’s activity in “Radio Frequency (RF) Semiconductor Tester”:

(i) a “matching 1:1 research & development grant” up to RM4,387,276, for a period of two (2) years 
commencing 2013; and

(ii) a “matching 1:1 training grant” up to RM120,300, for a period of two (2) years commencing 2013.

 As at the end of the reporting period, RM2,832,762 (2016: RM2,701,378) has been disbursed to the subsidiary for 
research and development purposes.

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

GROUP 
2017 2016

RM RM

Contracted but not provided for:
- Property, plant and equipment 4,965,013 -

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

29.1 Categories of financial instruments

 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as:
(i) Loans and receivables (“L&R”);
(ii) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”);
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”); and
(iv) Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“FL”).
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.1 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

Carrying
amount FVTPL L&R AFS FL
       RM RM RM RM RM

GROUP

2017
Financial assets
Trade receivables 14,902,683 - 14,902,683 - -
Other receivables and 

refundable deposits 3,209,567 - 3,209,567
 
- -

Derivative financial assets 5,383 5,383 - - -
Other investment 17,931,796 - - 17,931,796 -
Fixed deposits with a 

licensed bank 41,400 - 41,400
 
- -

Cash and bank balances   6,373,173 - 6,373,173 - -
42,464,002 5,383 24,526,823 17,931,796 -

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 4,135,667 - - - 4,135,667
Other payables and 

accruals 2,432,083 - - - 2,432,083
Term loan 2,890,720 - - - 2,890,720

9,458,470 - - - 9,458,470

2016
Financial assets
Trade receivables 11,607,501 - 11,607,501 - -
Other receivables and 

refundable deposits 348,216 - 348,216 - -
Other investment 22,849,433 - - 22,849,433 -
Fixed deposits with 

licensed banks 1,470,540 - 1,470,540 - -
Cash and bank balances   2,437,041 - 2,437,041 - -

38,712,731 - 15,863,298 22,849,433 -

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 1,629,611 - - - 1,629,611
Other payables and 

accruals 1,316,232 - - - 1,316,232
2,945,843 - - - 2,945,843
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.1 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

Carrying
amount L&R AFS FL

RM RM RM RM

COMPANY

2017
Financial assets
Other receivable 9,374 9,374 - -
Amount due from a subsidiary 10,592,728 10,592,728 - -
Other investment 12,314,500 - 12,314,500 -
Cash and bank balances               49,694 49,694 - -

22,966,296 10,651,796 12,314,500 -

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals 231,925 - - 231,925

2016
Financial assets
Other receivable 1,000 1,000 - -
Amount due from a subsidiary 8,020,866 8,020,866 - -
Other investment 14,880,333 - 14,880,333 -
Cash and bank balances               132,450 132,450 - -

23,034,649 8,154,316 14,880,333 -

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals 199,354 - - 199,354

29.2 Financial risk management

 The Group and the Company are exposed to a variety of financial risks arising from their operations and 
the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and 
foreign currency risk. The Group and the Company operate within clearly defined guidelines that are 
approved by the Board and the Group’s and the Company’s policy is not to engage in speculative 
activities.

29.2.1  Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group and to the Company. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from its trade receivables. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from 
advances to its subsidiary and financial guarantees given.

(i) Trade receivables

The Group extends to existing customers credit terms ranging from 30 to 90 days. In deciding 
whether credit shall be extended, the Group will take into consideration factors such as the 
relationship with the customer, its payment history and credit worthiness. The Group will subject 
new customers to credit verification procedures. In addition, debt monitoring procedures are 
performed on an on-going basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.2 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

29.2.1  Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i) Trade receivables (Cont’d)

                                                                       GROUP                   
                                                                                        2017 2016

RM RM

Not past due 11,457,390 5,555,354

1 to 30 days past due 1,141,286  1,400,798
31 to 60 days past due 348,264 103,935
Past due more than 60 days 1,955,743 4,547,414

                                                                                            3,445,293 6,052,147

14,902,683 11,607,501

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy customers with 
good payment record with the Group. None of the Group’s trade receivables that are 
neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the financial year.

 The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM3,445,293 (2016: RM6,052,147) that are 
past due as at the end of the reporting period but not impaired as the management is of 
the view that these debts will be collected in due course.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding balance due from 5 
(2016: 3) customers, representing 68% (2016: 55%) of the total trade receivables.

(ii) Intercompany balances

The Company provides advances to its subsidiary and monitors the results of the subsidiary 
regularly.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by its carrying amount in the Company’s 
statement of financial position.

As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the short term advances 
are not recoverable. The Company does not specifically monitor the ageing of the short term 
advances. 

(iii) Financial guarantees

The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to financial institution for banking 
facilities granted to a subsidiary up to a limit of RM20,044,000 (2016: RM2,500,000). The 
maximum exposure to credit risk is amounted to RM2,927,040 (2016: RM Nil), representing the 
outstanding banking facilities of the subsidiary as at the end of the reporting period.

The Company monitors on an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiary and repayments 
made by the subsidiary. As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that 
the subsidiary would default on repayment.

Financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was 
not material.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.2 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

29.2.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet their financial 
obligations as and when they fall due. The Group and the Company actively manage their debt  
maturity profile, operating cash flows and availability of funding so as to ensure that all repayment 
and funding needs are met. As part of their overall prudent liquidity management, the Group and 
the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash and cash equivalents to meet their working capital 
requirements.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on the undiscounted contractual payments:

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within 
1 year

More than 1 year 
and less 

than 2 years

More than 2 years 
and less 

than 5 years
RM RM RM RM RM

GROUP

2017
Non-derivatives
Trade payables 4,135,667 4,135,667 4,135,667 - -
Other payables 

and accruals 2,432,083 2,432,083
 

2,432,083
 
-

 
-

Term loan 2,890,720 3,236,752 644,000 621,123 1,971,629
Derivatives
Forward foreign 

exchange 
contracts (5,383) (5,383) (5,383) - -

9,453,087 9,799,119 7,206,367 621,123 1,971,629

2016
Non-derivatives
Trade payables 1,629,611 1,629,611 1,629,611 - -
Other payables 

and accruals 1,316,232 1,316,232 1,316,232 - -
2,945,843 2,945,843 2,945,843 - -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.2 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

29.2.2 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within 
1 year

More than 1 year 
and less 

than 2 years

More than 2 years 
and less 

than 5 years
RM RM RM RM RM

COMPANY

2017
Non-derivatives
Other payables 

and accruals 231,925 231,925 231,925 - -
Financial 

guarantee* - 3,236,752 3,236,752 - -
231,925 3,468,677 3,468,677 - -

2016
Non-derivatives
Other payables 

and accruals 199,354 199,354 199,354 - -

* This liquidity risk exposure is included for illustration purpose only as the related financial guarantee 
  has not crystallised.

29.2.3 Interest rate risk

The Group’s fixed rate instruments are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes 
in interest rates. The Group’s floating rate instruments are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows 
due to changes in interest rates.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments based on the carrying 
amount as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
                 
                                                                                      GROUP

2017 2016
RM RM

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 41,400 1,470,540

Floating rate instruments
Financial liabilities 2,890,720 -

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
and the Group does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge 
accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would 
not affect profit or loss.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.2 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

29.2.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

An increase of 25 basis point would have decreased profit before tax by RM1,512 and a 
corresponding decrease would have an equal but opposite effect. These changes are considered 
to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

29.2.4 Foreign currency risk

 The objectives of the Group’s foreign exchange policy are to allow the Group to manage 
exposures that arise from trading activities effectively within a framework of controls that does not 
expose the Group to unnecessary foreign exchange risks. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk mainly on sales and purchases that are denominated 
in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group also holds cash and bank 
balances denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes The currencies giving 
rise to this risk are primarily US Dollar (“USD”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) and New Taiwan Dollar 
(“TWD”).

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the 
reporting period is as follows:

 Denominated in 
USD SGD TWD
RM RM RM

GROUP

2017
Trade receivables 11,010,494 - -
Other receivables - - 20,474
Derivative financial assets 5,383 - -
Cash and bank balances 4,012,165 26,687 39,202
Trade payables (2,481,083) (51,201) -
Other payables - - (51,273)
Net exposure 12,546,959 (24,514) 8,403

2016
Trade receivables 9,537,538 20,082 -
Other receivables - - 13,144
Cash and bank balances 1,344,118 182,193 39,452
Trade payables (1,217,546) - -
Other payables - - (64,384)
Net exposure 9,664,110 202,275 (11,788)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

29.2 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

29.2.4 Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign 
currency exchange rates against Ringgit Malaysia, with all other variables held constant, of the 
Group’s profit before tax. A 10% strengthening of the RM against the following currencies at the 
end of the reporting period would have reduced profit before tax by the amount shown below 
and a corresponding weakening would have an equal but opposite effect. This analysis is based 
on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible 
at the end of the reporting period.                            

                                                                           GROUP                   
                                                                                        2017 2016

RM RM

USD (1,254,696) (966,411)
SGD 2,451 (20,228)
TWD (840)   1,179

Reduction in profit before tax (1,253,085) (985,460)

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

GROUP AND COMPANY

Other than the other investment and derivative financial assets disclosed below, the carrying amounts of the 
financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company as at the end of the reporting period 
approximate their fair values due to their short term nature.

The carrying amounts of the non-current portion of trade receivables and term loans are reasonable 
approximation of their fair values due to the insignificant impact of discounting.

Fair value hierarchy 

The table below analyses financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable (refer to Note 2.2 to the 
financial statements for definition of Level 1 to 3 fair value hierarchy).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value Carrying amount
RM RM RM RM RM

GROUP

2017
Financial assets
- Forward foreign 

exchange contract - 5,383 - 5,383 5,383
- Other investment 17,938,971 - - 17,938,971 17,931,796

17,938,971 5,383 - 17,944,354 17,937,179

2016
Financial assets
- Other investment 22,849,433 - - 22,849,433 22,849,433
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30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

GROUP AND COMPANY (Cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair 

value
Carrying 
amount

RM RM RM RM RM

COMPANY

2017
Financial assets
- Other investment 12,312,539 - - 12,312,539 12,314,500

2016
Financial assets
- Other investment 14,880,333 - - 14,880,333 14,880,333

The other investment represents investment in unit trusts and it is carried at fair value by reference to its quoted 
closing bid price at the end of the reporting period. 

Policy on transfer between levels

The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as at the date of the event or change 
in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the 
financial year.

Derivatives

 The fair value of the outstanding forward exchange contracts is obtained from the financial institution which 
the Group obtained the facility from.

31. RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (“RSP”)

The RSP which had been approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 12 December 2014, was implemented on 13 July 2017. It forms part of the Company’s listing scheme 
during its Initial Public Offering on 15 September 2015 and is governed by the By-Laws of the RSP. The RSP will be 
in force for a maximum period of ten years from 15 February 2016 until 14 February 2026.

The salient features of RSP are as follows:

(a) The total number of new ordinary shares which are available to be issued under the RSP shall not exceed 
ten percent (10%) of the total issued and fully paid-up share capital of the Company at any time 
throughout the duration of the RSP.

(b) Any employee or director of any company comprised in the Group shall be eligible to participate in the 
RSP if, as at the date of offer, the employee or director is at least eighteen (18) years of age or above; 
and is employed on a continuous full-time basis and must be a confirmed employee; for director, further 
approval by shareholders of the Company is required in a general meeting.

(c) The allocation of the share will be staggered over the duration of the RSP and no further share shall be 
allocated after the initial grant date.

(d)  The RSP shall remain unissued until the share awards are vested and shall, on allotment, rank pari passu 
in all respects with the existing shares of the Company at the time of allotment save that they will not 
entitle the holders thereof to receive any rights and bonus issues announced or to any dividend or other 
distribution declared to the shareholders of the Company prior to the date of allotment.
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31. RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN (“RSP”) (Cont’d)

(e) A participant is required to pay RM1 only upon accepting the Restricted Share Award and is not required 
for further payment upon vesting of the new shares.

Movement in the number of awarded shares during the financial year are as follows:

Grant Date
Balance 

at beginning Granted Forfeited Balance at end

2017
2017 grant - 808,300 (21,500) 786,800

The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market price of the holding company’s 
shares at the grant date. 

The weighted average fair value of awarded shares granted during the financial year ended 30 September 
2017 was RM0.525 per share. 

The outstanding shares awarded at the end of the reporting period are to be vested within the next 2 years, 
divided into two tranches on an equal basis on the anniversary grant date.

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital base to support 
its businesses and maximise shareholders’ value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions or expansion of the Group. The Group may adjust the capital structure by issuing new shares, 
returning capital to shareholders or adjusting the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders or sell assets 
to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objective, policy or process during the financial year under 
review as compared to the previous financial year.

During the financial year, the lending bank of the subsidiary has imposed a debt covenant that requires the 
subsidiary’s gearing ratio shall not at any time exceed 1.00 times. For purposes of computation, gearing ratio 
shall be defined as the ratio of the subsidiary’s total bank borrowings against total net worth (less intangibles 
and pre-operating expenses) plus loans and advances from the Company.

The gearing ratio of the subsidiary during the financial year under review is as follows:

                                                                                        2017 2016

Total borrowing (RM) 2,890,720 -

Total equity (RM) 50,312,432 42,637,018
Less: Intangible assets (RM) (13,686,335) (13,686,335)
Add: Amount due to the Company (RM) 10,592,728 8,020,866

47,218,825 36,971,549

Gearing ratio 0.06 -

Based on the computation above, the subsidiary has fulfilled the debt covenant requirement imposed by the 
bank.
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DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS/LOSSES

The breakdown of retained profits/(accumulated losses) of the Group and of the Company as at the end of the 
reporting period has been prepared by the Directors in accordance with the directives from Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 - Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements as issued by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants, are as follows:
        

GROUP COMPANY
2017 2016 2017 2016

RM RM RM RM

Total retained profits/(accumulated losses) of 
the Company and its subsidiary

- Realised 26,612,260 19,013,209 (1,211,832) (1,159,654)
- Unrealised 273,197 320,337 - -
Total retained profits/(accumulated losses) as 

per statements of financial position 26,885,457 19,333,546 (1,211,832) (1,159,654)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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Registered
Owner / 
Location

Date of 
Acquisition Description Tenure

Age of 
building

Built up
Area

Existing
Use

 Audited  
Carrying 
Amount 
 as at 30 

September 
 2017 

(Years) (Sq. Ft.)  RM ‘000 

1 Aemulus 
Corporation 
Sdn Bhd 
B-2-4, Krystal 
Point, 303, 
Jalan Sultan 
Azlan Shah, 
11900 
Penang

02.05.2008 One (1) 
unit at the 

2nd floor of 
a 5-storey 

commercial 
building

Freehold 20 1,049 Rented to 
third-party

 175,700 

 175,700 
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        

LIST OF PROPERTY
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

A. Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares 
Voting Rights : On show of hands – One vote for one person

On a poll – One vote for one ordinary share

B. ANALYSIS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF HOLDINGS NO. OF HOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 – 99 3 0.083 100 0.000
100 – 1,000 276 7.594 176,600 0.040
1,001–10,000 1,764 48.542 11,224,400 2.558
10,001 – 100,000 1,375 37.837 47,982,800 10.934
100,001 – 21,942,499 (*) 211 5.806 148,374,600 33.810
21,942,500 and above (**) 5 0.138 231,091,500 52.658

Total 3,634 100.000 438,850,000 100.000

Remark : * -  Less than 5% of Issued Shares
** - 5% and above of Issued Shares

C. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

NAME NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
DIRECT % INDIRECT %

NG SANG BENG 77,115,600 17.572 39,288,700 * 8.953
BOMBALAI HILL VENTURES SDN BHD 65,827,500 15.000 - -
KHAZANAH NASIONAL BERHAD - - 65,827,500 # 15.000
YEOH CHEE KEONG 50,299,900 11.462 460,000 ^ 0.105
AEMULUS VENTURE SDN BHD 35,375,000 8.061 - -
BEACH CAPITAL SDN BHD 30,223,500 6.887 - -
KAN KY-VERN - - 30,345,400 @ 6.915
KAN AH CHUN - - 30,223,500 + 6.887

Notes:

* Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings of not less than 20% in Aemulus Venture Sdn Bhd pursuant 
to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016 (“the Act”) and other interest held through his spouse pursuant 
to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act.

# Deemed to have interest pursuant to Section 8 of the Act through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Bombalai 
Hill Ventures Sdn Bhd. 

^ Other interest held through his spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act. 

@ Deemed interested by virtue of being a substantial shareholder of Beach Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to 
Section 8 of the Act and other interest held through his spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act.

+ Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings of not less than 20% in Beach Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant 
to Section 8 of the Act.

AS AT 15 DECEMBER 2017
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
(Cont’d)

D. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 

NAME NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES 
DIRECT % INDIRECT %

NG SANG BENG 77,115,600 17.572 39,288,700 * 8.953
YEOH CHEE KEONG 50,299,900 11.462 460,000 ^ 0.105
KAN KY-VERN - - 30,345,400 @ 6.915
WONG SHEE KIAN 14,356,200 3.271 - -
CHOK KWEE BEE 1,000,000 0.228 - -
ONG CHONG CHEE 1,100,000 0.251 - -
FRIISCOR HO CHII SSU 5,519,800 1.258 60,000 ^ 0.014
NG CHIN WAH 300,000 0.068 - -

Notes:

* Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholdings of not less than 20% in Aemulus Venture Sdn Bhd pursuant 
to Section 8 of the Act and other interest held through his spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act.

^ Other interest held through his spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act. 

@ Deemed interested by virtue of being a substantial shareholder of Beach Capital Sdn Bhd pursuant to 
Section 8 of the Act and other interest held through his spouse pursuant to Section 59(11)(c) of the Act.

 
E. THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES 
% OF TOTAL ISSUED 

CAPITAL

1. NG SANG BENG 68,365,600 15.578
2. BOMBALAI HILL VENTURES SDN BHD 65,827,500 15.000
3. YEOH CHEE KEONG 41,299,900 9.410
4. BEACH CAPITAL SDN. BHD. 30,223,500 6.886
5. AEMULUS VENTURE SDN. BHD. 25,375,000 5.782
6. WONG SHEE KIAN 12,731,200 2.901
7. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 

EXEMPT AN FOR CITIBANK NEW YORK (NORGES BANK 14)
10,585,900 2.412

8. AEMULUS VENTURE SDN. BHD. 10,000,000 2.278
9. CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

CIMB BANK FOR YEOH CHEE KEONG (PBCL-0G0495)
9,000,000 2.050

10. NG SANG BENG 8,750,000 1.993
11. CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TERENCE WONG @ HUANG 
THAR-REARN

6,000,000 1.367

12. FRIISCOR HO CHII SSU 5,519,800 1.257
13. RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

TAN AH LOY @ TAN MAY LING
4,500,000 1.025

14. PONG CHUNG CHENG 3,913,700 0.891
15. LOW BOK SIEW 3,092,600 0.704
16. MOY SHIN FEI 3,051,800 0.695

AS AT 15 DECEMBER 2017
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
(Cont’d)

E. THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES 
% OF TOTAL ISSUED 

CAPITAL

17. LAU SAM SIONG 2,600,000 0.592
18. ONG CHUIN TEIN 2,189,100 0.498
19. RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR KEOH BENG HUAT
2,106,700 0.480

20. TAN E-CHIANG 1,849,000 0.421
21. TEOH HOAY MING 1,663,800 0.379
22. MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

NG CHEE WAI
1,660,000 0.378

23. WONG SHEE KIAN 1,625,000 0.370
24. ELSOFT RESEARCH BERHAD 1,400,000 0.319
25. RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES FOR ACCOUNT NG CHEE WAI
1,344,000 0.306

26. TAN TZE SIN 1,140,400 0.259
27. ONG CHONG CHEE 1,100,000 0.250
28. MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR NG CHEE WAI
1,095,000 0.249

29. NEOH TEIK SENG 1,050,000 0.239
30. CHOK KWEE BEE 1,000,000 0.227

AS AT 15 DECEMBER 2017
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Third Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Matahari 1, LG Level 
– North Wing, Hotel Equatorial Penang, 1 Jalan Bukit Jambul, Bayan Lepas, 11900 Penang, Malaysia on Thursday, 8 
February 2018 at 10:00 am for the following purposes:-

AGENDA

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 
30 September 2017 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ benefits (excluding Directors’ fees) of up to 
RM11,000 from 1 February 2017 until 30 September 2017 and additional Directors’ fee of 
RM29,167 for the financial year ended 30 September 2017.

Ordinary Resolution 1

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits of RM234,000 for the 
financial year ending 30 September 2018.

Ordinary Resolution 2

4. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring in accordance with Company’s 
Constitution (Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association as adopted before the 
commencement of the Companies Act 2016):-
(i) Mr. Ng Sang Beng Ordinary Resolution 3
(ii) Mr. Yeoh Chee Keong Ordinary Resolution 4
(iii) Mr. Wong Shee Kian Ordinary Resolution 5

5. To re-appoint Messrs Grant Thornton as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 6

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:

6. To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications the following resolution:-

ORDINARY RESOLUTION
AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES
“That pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016, and subject to the 
approvals of the relevant Governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be 
and are hereby empowered to issue shares in the Company, at such time and upon 
such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute 
discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to 
this resolution in any one financial year does not exceed 10% of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company for the time being and that 
the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval from Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued and 
that such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.”

Ordinary Resolution 7

7. To transact any other business of which due notices shall have been given in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2016.

By Order of the Board,

CHEE WAI HONG (BC/C/1470)
TAN SHE CHIA (MAICSA 7055087)
Company Secretaries

Penang

Date: 10 January 2018

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Notes:  

1. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy, a proxy may but need not be a member of the 
Company.

2. The proxy form must be duly completed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, 51-13-A 
Menara BHL Bank, Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah, 10050 Penang not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 
for holding the meeting.

3. A member shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.

4. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the 
proportions of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation, under its Common Seal or under the hand of its 
attorney.

6. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry 
(Central Depositories) Act 1991 which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in 
one securities account (“Omnibus Account”), there shall be no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt 
Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds. 

7. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting 
Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company pursuant to the Company’s Constitution 
(Article 63(2) of the Articles of Association of the Company as adopted before the commencement of the 
Companies Act, 2016) and Rule 7.16(2) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, a Record of Depositors (“ROD”) as at 30 January 2018 and only a Depositor whose name appears on 
such ROD shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this meeting or appoint proxy to attend and/or speak 
and/or vote in his/her behalf.

8. All resolutions as set out in this notice of Third Annual General Meeting are to be voted by poll.

Explanatory Notes on Ordinary Business

Resolution 1 – Payment of Directors’ benefits and additional Directors’ fees
Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 2016 which came into force on 31 January 2017 provides amongst others, that 
the fees of the Directors and any benefits payable to the Directors of a listed company and its subsidiaries shall be 
approved at a general meeting. 

The additional Directors’ fees is for the payment of Directors’ fees to Mr. Kan Ky-Vern for the financial year ended 30 
September 2017 in conjunction with his resignation as Chief Financial Officer and re-designation from the position of 
Executive Director to Non-Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 March 2017.

The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1 is to seek shareholders’ approval for the payment of Directors’ benefits for the 
period from 1 February 2017 to 30 September 2017 of up to RM11,000 and additional Directors’ fees of RM29,167 for 
the financial year ended 30 September 2017.

Resolution 2 – Payment of Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits 
Resolution 2 is to facilitate payment of Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits on current financial year basis, 
calculated based on the number of non-executive directors and the role and responsibilities undertaken by the 
non-executive directors for financial year 2018 and assuming that all Directors will hold office until the end of the 
financial year. In the event the Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits proposed are insufficient (e.g. due to enlarged 
Board size), approval will be sought at the next Annual General Meeting for additional fees to meet the shortfall.
 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
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Explanatory Notes on Special Business

Resolution 7 – Authority to issue shares
The proposed Ordinary Resolution 7, if passed, primarily to renew the mandate to give authority to the Board of 
Directors of the Company to issue and allot shares in the Company up to an amount not exceeding 10% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company for the time being for such purposes as 
the Directors consider would be in the best interest of the Company without convening a general meeting. This 
would avoid any delay and costs in convening a general meeting to specifically approve such an issue of shares. 
This authority, unless revoked or varied by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, will expire at the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

As at the date of this Notice, the Company has not issued any new shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act, 2016 under the general authority which was approved at the Second Annual General Meeting 
held on 23 February 2017 and which will lapse at the conclusion of the Third Annual General Meeting to be held on 
8 February 2018. A renewal of this authority is being sought at the Third Annual General Meeting under proposed 
Ordinary Resolution 7.

This authority if granted will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not 
limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital, acquisition(s) 
and/or settlement of banking facility(ies).

PERSONAL DATA POLICY
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use 
and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing 
and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General 
Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance list, minutes 
and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and in order 
for the Company (or it agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”). (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of 
such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of 
the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will 
indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of 
the member’s breach of warranty.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
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As at date of this notice, there are no individuals who are standing for election as Directors (excluding the above 
Directors who are standing for re-election) at this forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Company will seek shareholders’ approval on the general mandate for issue of securities in accordance with 
the Rule 6.04(3) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. Please refer to the proposed ordinary 
resolution 7 as stated in the Notice of Annual General Meeting of the Company for the details.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Pursuant to Rule 8.29(2) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad)



*I/We___________________________________________________NRIC No./Company No_______________________________ 
  (Full Name in Block Letters)
of______________________________________________________________________________ being a *Member/Members of 
                                            (Full Address)
Aemulus Holdings Berhad hereby appoint _________________________________________________________________NRIC 
                                                                            (Full Name in Block Letters)
No./Company No_______________________________________of ___________________________________________________   
         (Full Address)
or failing him/her,__________________________________________NRIC No./Company No____________________________
                                   (Full Name in Block Letters)
of _________________________________________________________________________________ as *my/our proxy/proxies to
                                                             (Full Address)

attend and vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Third Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
at Matahari 1,  LG Level - North Wing, Hotel Equatorial Penang, 1 Jalan Bukit Jambul, Bayan Lepas, 11900 Penang, 
Malaysia on Thursday, 8 February 2018 at 10:00 am, and at any adjournment thereof to vote as indicated below:

No. of 
Resolution Resolutions For Against

1 Approval of payment of Directors’ benefits (excluding Directors’ fees) 
from 1 February 2017 until 30 September 2017 and additional Directors’ 
fees for the financial year ended 30 September 2017

2 Approval of payment of Directors’ fees and Directors’ benefits for the 
financial year ending 30 September 2018

3 Re-election of Mr. Ng Sang Beng as Director
4 Re-election of Mr. Yeoh Chee Keong as Director
5 Re-election of Mr. Wong Shee Kian as Director
6 Re-appointment of Messrs Grant Thornton as Auditors and to authorise 

the Directors to fix Auditor’s remuneration
7 Authority under Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 for the 

Directors to issue shares

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided above to how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do 
so, the proxy may vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion)

The proportion of *my/our holdings to be represented by *my/our proxies are as follows:-

First named Proxy %
Second named Proxy %

100%

In case of a vote taken by a show of hands, the *First named Proxy / Second named Proxy shall vote on *my/our 
behalf.

As witness my hand this ___________ day of ________  2018.              

  Signature of Member(s)/Common Seal
* Strike out whichever is not desired

Contact No.:
                 
Notes:        

1. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy, a proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.
2. The proxy form must be duly completed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, 51-13-A Menara BHL Bank, Jalan Sultan Ahmad 

Shah, 10050 Penang not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting.
3. A member shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.
4. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the proportions of his shareholding to 

be represented by each proxy.
5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointor 

is a corporation, under its Common Seal or under the hand of its attorney.
6. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 

which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“Omnibus Account”), there shall be no limit 
to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds. 

7. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn 
Bhd to make available to the Company pursuant to the Company’s Constitution (Article 63(2) of the Articles of Association of the Company as 
adopted before the commencement of the Companies Act 2016) and Rule 7.16(2) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad, a Record of Depositors (“ROD”) as at 30 January 2018 and only a Depositor whose name appears on such ROD shall be entitled 
to attend, speak and vote at this meeting or appoint proxy to attend and/or speak and/or vote in his/her behalf.

8. All resolutions as set out in this notice of Third Annual General Meeting are to be voted by poll.

(Company No. 1114009-H) (Incorporated in Malaysia)
Aemulus Holdings Berhad PROXY  FORM

CDS Account No.

 No. of ordinary shares held



fold here

fold here

fold here

STAMP HERE

The Company Secretaries
Aemulus Holdings Berhad
(Company No. 1114009-H)
51-13-A Menara BHL Bank
Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah
10050 Penang

To



Headquarter
Aemulus Holdings Berhad

1C-06-02, One Precinct, Lengkok Mayang Pasir, 11950 Penang.
Tel: (604) 6846 000   Fax: (604) 6466 799

www.aemulus.com
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